Document Version No. 9

Issue Date: June 14, 2024 Effective Date: June 19, 2024

Issue and Effective Dates noted are applicable to the entirety of the tariff except as noted within specific Rule(s). Rule(s) applicable exclusively within the USA or points between the USA and Area 1/2/3 are effective immediately.

Title Page

Airline Tariff Publishing Company, Agent International Passenger Rules and Fares

Tariff No. CGR1

Containing Local Rules, Fares & Charges on Behalf of

Porter Airlines (Canada) Limited

Applicable to the Transportation of Passengers and Baggage Between Points in

Canada/USA and Points in Area 1/2/3

For list of participating carriers, see IPGT-1, DOT:581, CTA:373

This tariff is governed, except as otherwise provided herein, by Maximum Permitted Mileage Tariff No. MPM-1, DOT:424, CTA:239; Aircraft Type Seating Configuration Tariff No. TS-2, DOT:220, CTA:111; and International Passenger Governing Tariff No. IPGT-1, DOT:581, CTA:373 issued by Airline Tariff Publishing Company, Agent, supplements thereto and reissues thereof.

Issued by:
Alex Zoghlin, President
Airline Tariff Publishing Company, Agent

Table of Contents

Title Page	1
Table of Contents	
Rule 1 Definitions and Interpretation	
Rule 2 Currency	
Rule 3 Mileage Determination	
Rule 5 Application of Tariff	
Rule 10 Rates and Charges - Transborder Service	13
Rule 12 Passport and Visas	15
Rule 15 Capacity Limitations	16
Rule 21 Transportation of a Person with A Disability	17
Rule 25 Refusal to Transport	20
Rule 30 Acceptance and Seating of Children	23
Rule 35 Limitation of Liability - Passengers	25
Rule 40 Limitation of Liability for Baggage or Goods	26
Rule 45 In Cabin Pets Provisions	28
Rule 50 Tickets	29
Rule 55 Confirmation of Reserved Space	31
Rule 60 Cancellation of Reservation	32
Rule 65 Flight Disruptions - Standards of Care, Compensation and	d
Refunds	
Rule 70 Application of Fares and Routings	36
Rule 75 Acceptance of Baggage and Cargo	37
Rule 80 Responsibility For Schedules and Operations	44
Rule 85 Refunds	48
Rule 90 Denied Boarding	49
Rule 95 Check-In Requirements	52

Rule 1 Definitions and Interpretation[†]

IN THIS TARIFF, THE FOLLOWING WORDS SHALL HAVE MEANINGS SET OUT BELOW: AIR CREWS MEANS THE FLIGHT CREW AND ONE OR MORE PERSONS WHO, UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF THE CARRIER, PERFORM IN-FLIGHT DUTIES IN THE PASSENGER CABIN OF AN AIRCRAFT OF THE CARRIER; AIR SERVICE INCLUDES A LIVE FLIGHT AND A FERRY FLIGHT; AIR TRANSPORTATION CONTRACT MEANS WITH RESPECT TO INTERNATIONAL SERVICE, A CONTRACT ENTERED INTO BETWEEN THE PASSENGER AND THE CARRIER FOR THE PROVISION OF AIR SERVICE TO THE PASSENGER AND ITS GOODS IN THE FORM OF A RESERVATION AND CONFIRMING ITINERARY ISSUED BY THE CARRIER OR AN AGENT OF THE CARRIER AUTHORIZED FOR THAT PURPOSE, IN RESPECT OF CARGO, A CONTRACT ENTERED INTO BETWEEN THE CARRIER AND ANY PERSON FOR THE CARRIAGE OF CARGO ON A INTERNATIONAL SERVICE AIR TRANSPORTATION REGULATIONS MEANS THE REGULATIONS RESPECTING AIR TRANSPORTATION, SOR/88-58 AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME, AND ANY SUBSTITUTE REGULATIONS PRESCRIBED IN RELATION TO THE SUBJECT-MATTER THEREIN; AIR WAYBILL MEANS A NON-NEGOTIABLE AIR-BILL OF THE REQUIRED NUMBER OF COPIES, COVERING THE CARGO TRANSPORTED BY THE CARRIER SUBJECT TO THIS TARIFF; AMBULATORY MEANS A PERSON WHO IS ABLE TO MOVE ABOUT WITHIN AN AIRCRAFT UNASSISTED; APPLICABLE ADULT FARE MEANS THE FARE WHICH WOULD BE APPLICABLE TO AN ADULT FOR THE TRANSPORTATION TO BE USED EXCEPT THOSE SPECIAL FARES WHICH WOULD BE APPLICABLE DUE TO ADULT'S STATUS (SUCH AS SENIOR CITIZENS FARE, ETC.); APPLICABLE FULL FARE MEANS THE FULL ADULT FARE FOR THE CLASS OF SERVICE DESIGNATED IN THE CARRIER'S OFFICIAL GENERAL SCHEDULE FOR THE AIRCRAFT, OR COMPARTMENT OF THE AIRCRAFT USED BY THE PASSENGER; APPR MEANS THE AIR PASSENGER PROTECTION REGULATIONS. SOR/2019-150 MADE PURSUANT TO THE CANADA TRANSPORTATION ACT, S.C. 1996, C.10 (CANADA) ASSISTANT A PERSON WHO TRAVELS WITH A PERSON WITH A DISABILITY AND IS FULLY CAPABLE OF PROVIDING A SERVICE RELATED TO THE DISABILITY THAT IS NOT USUALLY PROVIDED BY THE CARRIER'S STAFF. ATPCO MEANS THE AIRLINE TARIFF PUBLISHING COMPANY; WHICH IS EQUIVALENT TO LUGGAGE MEANS SUCH BAGGAGE: ARTICLES, EFFECTS AND OTHER PERSONAL PROPERTY OF A PASSENGER AS ARE NECESSARY OR APPROPRIATE FOR WEAR, USE IN CONNECTION WITH THE PASSENGER TRIP: BAGGAGE CHECK: MEANS THOSE PORTIONS OF THE TICKET WHICH PROVIDE FOR THE CARRIAGE OF PASSENGER'S CHECKED BAGGAGE AND

4 | Page

[†] Tracked changes applicable to/from Canada and annotated throughout the entirety of Rule 1 are effective June 05, 2024, pursuant to Order No. 2021-A-3 of the CTA.

^a Tracked changes applicable to/from the United States and annotated throughout the entirety of Rule 1 are effective June 05, 2024, pursuant to Docket OST-97-2050 of the DOT.

WHICH ARE ISSUED BY THE CARRIER AS A RECEIPT FOR PASSENGER'S CHECKED BAGGAGE. MEANS A DOCUMENT ISSUED BY THE CARRIER SOLELY BAGGAGE TAG: FOR IDENTIFICATION OF CHECKED BAGGAGE, ONE PORTION OF WHICH IS ATTACHED BY CARRIER TO A PARTICULAR ARTICLE OF CHECKED BAGGAGE AND THE OTHER PORTION OF WHICH IS GIVEN TO THE PASSENGER; CANADA MEANS THE TEN PROVINCES OF CANADA, THE YUKON TERRITORY, THE DISTRICTS AND ISLANDS COMPRISING THE NORTHWEST TERRITORIES OF CANADA AND NUNAVUT; CANADA TRANSPORTATION ACT OR CTA MEANS THE CANADA TRANSPORTATION ACT, 1996, AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME; CARGO MEANS GOODS WHICH ARE ACCEPTED FOR TRANSPORT BY THE CARRIER FROM A PERSON WHO IS NOT A PASSENGER OF THE CARRIER, OR WHO IS A PASSENGER, BUT WHO HAS EXECUTED AN AGREEMENT WITH THE CARRIER FOR TREATMENT OF THE GOODS AS "CARGO", AND HAS PAID THE RATES AS AGREED UPON BY THE CARRIER AND THE PERSON WHO HAS EXECUTED THE AGREEMENT; CARGO SERVICE MEANS THE CARRIAGE OF CARGO BY THE CARRIER IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS AND PROVISIONS OF THIS TARIFF ON A TRANSBORDER SERVICE OR AN INTERNATIONAL SERVICE FLIGHT; CARRIER MEANS PORTER AIRLINES (CANADA) LIMITED OR PORTER AIRLINES INC., AS THE CASE MAY BE; CHILD MEANS A PERSON AT LEAST 2 YEARS OF AGE AND UNDER THE AGE OF 12 YEARS AT THE TIME OF COMMENCEMENT OF TRAVEL. PROOF OF AGE MUST BE PROVIDED; CIRCLE TRIP MEANS ANY TRIP, THE ULTIMATE DESTINATION OF WHICH IS THE POINT OF ORIGIN, BUT WHICH INCLUDES, AT LEAST, A STOP AT ONE OTHER POINT, AND WHICH IS NOT MADE VIA THE SAME ROUTING IN THE BOTH DIRECTIONS; CLASS OF SERVICE MEANS THE COMPARTMENT OF THE AIRCRAFT IN WHICH THE PASSENGER IS ENTITLED TO BE TRANSPORTED PURSUANT TO THE GENERAL SCHEDULE OF THE CARRIER; CODESHARE MEANS A MARKETING ARRANGEMENT BETWEEN TWO OR MORE CARRIERS IN WHICH A CARRIER MAY SELL SEATS USING ITS OWN AIRLINE CODE (MARKETING CARRIER) ON A FLIGHT OPERATED BY THE OTHER CARRIER (OPERATING CARRIER). CONVENTION MEANS EITHER MONTREAL CONVENTION OR WARSAW CONVENTION WHICHEVER IS APPLICABLE; CREDIT SHELL MEANS A RECORD WITH A PAYMENT BUT NO FLIGHT USED TO HOLD A CREDIT OR CREDITS FOR FUTURE FLIGHTS, WHICH MAY BE APPLIED TOWARD THE BASE FARE, AIRLINES SURCHARGES, CHANGE FEES, AND GOVERNMENT TAXES AND FEES EXCLUSIVELY TOWARD BOOKINGS IN THE NAME OF THE OWNER OF THE CREDIT SHELL, PROVIDED HOWEVER THAT A CREDIT SHELL MAY BE TRANSFERRED TO ANOTHER TRAVELER ONE TIME ONLY; CONTROLLABLE MEANS CAUSED PRIMARILY BY FACTORS WITHIN THE CARRIER'S CONTROL, BUT EXCLUDES A FLIGHT DISRUPTION WHICH IS CONTROLLABLE FOR CONTROLLABLE FOR SAFETY MEANS CAUSED PRIMARILY BY FACTORS WITHIN THE CARRIER'S CONTROL BUT REQUIRED IN ORDER TO REDUCE RISK TO PASSENGER SAFETY; DENIED BOARDING MEANS NOT BEING PERMITTED TO OCCUPY A SEAT ON BOARD A FLIGHT DESPITE HAVING MET ALL BOARDING REQUIREMENTS BY THE PRESCRIBED TIME BECAUSE THE NUMBER OF SEATS THAT MAY BE OCCUPIED ON THE FLIGHT IS LESS THAN THE NUMBER OF PASSENGERS WHO HAVE CHECKED IN BY THE REQUIRED

TIME, HOLD A CONFIRMED RESERVATION AND VALID TRAVEL

DOCUMENTATION AND ARE PRESENT AT THE BOARDING GATE AT THE REQUIRED BOARDING TIME.

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION MEANS U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION.

DESTINATION MEANS THE POINT TO WHICH THE PASSENGER(S) TO BE TRANSPORTED ON A FLIGHT IS BOUND.

FARE OR FARE CLASS MEANS THE RATE CHARGED TO A PASSENGER IN RESPECT OF A PARTICULAR CLASS OF INTERNATIONAL SERVICE OFFERED BY THE CARRIER, FROM TIME TO TIME, AS MORE PARTICULARLY SET OUT IN SCHEDULE "A";

FERRY FLIGHT MEANS THE MOVEMENT OF AN AIRCRAFT WITHOUT PASSENGERS OR GOODS TO POSITION THE AIRCRAFT TO PERFORM A FLIGHT OR UPON COMPLETION OF A FLIGHT TO POSITION THE AIRCRAFT TO A POINT REQUIRED BY THE CARRIER;

FLIGHT DISRUPTION MEANS A DELAY OR CANCELLATION OF THE CARRIER'S FLIGHT;

GOODS MEANS ANYTHING THAT CAN BE TRANSPORTED BY AIR, INCLUDING ANIMALS, OTHER THAN IN PLANE-LOAD AND BAGGAGE; INFANTS MEANS A PERSON UNDER THE AGE OF 2 YEARS AT THE TIME OF COMMENCEMENT OF TRAVEL AND CARRIED FREE OF CHARGE BY AN ADULT SHARING THE SAME SEAT AS THE INFANT. PROOF OF AGE MUST BE PROVIDED AND IS RESTRICTED TO ONE INFANT PER ADULT PASSENGER;

ITINERARY MEANS A SCHEDULE SETTING FORTH THE NAME OF RELEVANT PASSENGER(S), THE FLIGHT, FLIGHT NUMBER, CLASS OF FLIGHT, FLIGHT TIMES, AS WELL AS THE ORIGIN AND DESTINATION OF THE FLIGHT ISSUED TO A PASSENGER ON PAYMENT OF THE APPROPRIATE RATES AND CHARGES IN RESPECT OF THAT FLIGHT; LIVE FLIGHT MEANS THE MOVEMENT OF AN AIRCRAFT WITH PASSENGERS OR GOODS FROM THE POINT OF TAKE-OFF AT THE ORIGIN TO A POINT OR POINTS OF LANDING THEREAFTER, INCLUSIVE OF THE POINT OF LANDING AT THE DESTINATION (IMMEDIATE TECHNICAL OR FUEL LANDINGS EXCEPTED);

MARKETING CARRIER MEANS A CARRIER THAT SELLS SEATS USING ITS OWN AIRLINE CODE FOR A FLIGHT OPERATED BY ANOTHER CARRIER (OPERATING CARRIER).

MONTREAL CONVENTION MEANS THE CONVENTION FOR THE UNIFICATION OF CERTAIN RULES OF INTERNATIONAL CARRIAGE BY AIR, SIGNED AT MONTREAL, MAY 28, 1999;

NON-AMBULATORY A PERSON WHO IS NOT ABLE TO MOVE ABOUT WITHIN AN AIRCRAFT UNASSISTED;

NON SELF RELIANT A PERSON WHO IS NOT SELF RELIANT, AS DEFINE BELOW:

OPEN JAW TRIP MEANS ANY TRIP WHICH IS ESSENTIALLY OF A ROUND TRIP OR CIRCLE TRIP NATURE BUT THE POINT OF DEPARTURE AND THE INWARD POINT OF ARRIVAL OR THE OUTWARD POINT OF ARRIVAL AND THE INWARD POINT OF DEPARTURE OF WHICH ARE NOT THE SAME; OPERATING CARRIER MEANS THE CARRIER THAT OPERATES A FLIGHT, WHETHER THAT FLIGHT WAS SOLD BY THE OPERATING CARRIER UNDER ITS OWN AIRLINE CODE OR BY ANOTHER AIRLINE USING ITS CODE (MARKETING CARRIER) UNDER A CODESHARE ARRANGEMENT.

ORIGIN MEANS THE POINT FROM WHICH A FLIGHT COMMENCES WITH THE PASSENGERS TO BE TRANSPORTED;

OUTWARD DESTINATION MEANS THE STOPOVER POINT ON THE PASSENGER'S ITINERARY WHICH IS FURTHEST FROM THE PASSENGER'S POINT OF ORIGIN;

PASSENGER MEANS ANY PERSON, EXCEPT MEMBERS OF THE CREW, CARRIED OR TO BE CARRIED IN AN AIRCRAFT WITH THE CONSENT OF

THE CARRIER PURSUANT TO AN AGREEMENT; PASSENGER LIABILITY MEANS THE LEGAL LIABILITY OF THE CARRIER TO ANY PASSENGER OR OTHER PERSON IN RESPECT OF A PASSENGER, ARISING FROM THE CARRIER'S OPERATION, OWNERSHIP OR POSSESSION OF AN AIRCRAFT, FOR:

- (A) INJURY TO OR DEATH OF PERSONS WHO ARE PASSENGERS;
- (B) LOSSES SUFFERED OR SUSTAINED BY A PASSENGER OR OTHER PERSON AS A RESULT OF THE CARRIER'S INABILITY TO PERFORM, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, THE AIR SERVICE CONTRACTED FOR;
- (C) DAMAGE TO OR LOSS OF GOODS IN THE CARRIER'S CHARGE; OR (D) LOSSES DUE TO ANY DELAY IN DELIVERY OF ANY GOODS IN THE CARRIER'S CHARGE.

PERSON MEANS AN INDIVIDUAL, FIRM, CORPORATION, ASSOCIATION, PARTNERSHIP, OR OTHER LEGAL ENTITY, AS THE CONTEXT REQUIRES OR OTHERWISE PERMITS;

PREPAID TICKET ADVICE MEANS THE NOTIFICATION BETWEEN OFFICES OF A CARRIER OR BETWEEN CARRIERS THAT A PERSON IN ONE LOCATION HAS PURCHASED AND REQUESTED ISSUANCE OF PREPAID TRANSPORTATION AS DESCRIBED IN THE AUTHORITY TO ANOTHER PERSON IN ANOTHER LOCATION;

REROUTE MEANS TO ISSUE A NEW TICKET COVERING TRANSPORTATION TO THE SAME DESTINATION AS, BUT VIA A DIFFERENT ROUTING THAN THAT DESIGNATED ON THE TICKET, OR PORTION THEREOF, THEN HELD BY THE PASSENGER, OR TO HONOUR THE TICKET, OR PORTION THEREOF, THEN HELD BY THE PASSENGER FOR TRANSPORTATION TO THE SAME DESTINATION AS, BUT VIA A DIFFERENT ROUTING THAN, THAT DESIGNATED THEREON;

ROUND TRIP MEANS ANY TRIP, THE ULTIMATE DESTINATION OF WHICH IS THE POINT OF ORIGIN, AND WHICH IS MADE VIA THE SAME ROUTING IN BOTH DIRECTIONS;

ROUTING MEANS THE CARRIER(S) AND/OR THE CITIES AND/OR CLASS OF SERVICE AND/OR TYPE OF AIRCRAFT VIA WHICH TRANSPORTATION IS PROVIDED BETWEEN TWO POINTS, AS SPECIFIED IN THIS TARIFF; SDR MEANS SPECIAL DRAWING RIGHTS ISSUED BY THE INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND:

SELF RELIANT MEANS A PERSON WHO IS INDEPENDENT, SELF SUFFICIENT AND CAPABLE OF TAKING CARE OF ALL HIS/HER PHYSICAL NEEDS DURING FLIGHT, DURING AN EMERGENCY EVACUATION OR DECOMPRESSION. HE/SHE REQUIRES NO SPECIAL OR UNUSUAL ATTENTION BEYOND THAT AFFORDED TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC, EXCEPT THAT HE/SHE MAY REQUIRE ASSISTANCE IN BOARDING OR DEPLANING; SERVICE ANIMAL MEANS AN ANIMAL THAT IS REQUIRED BY A PERSON WITH A DISABILITY FOR ASSISTANCE AND IS CERTIFIED IN WRITING, AS HAVING BEEN TRAINED TO ASSIST A PERSON WITH A DISABILITY BY A PROFESSIONAL SERVICE ANIMAL INSTITUTION AND WHICH IS PROPERLY HARNESSED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE STANDARDS ESTABLISHED BY A PROFESSIONAL SERVICE ANIMAL INSTITUTION; STOPOVER MEANS A DELIBERATE INTERRUPTION OF A JOURNEY BY THE PASSENGER, AGREED TO IN ADVANCE BY THE CARRIER, AT A POINT BETWEEN THE PLACE OF DEPARTURE AND THE PLACE OF DESTINATION; TARIFF MEANS THIS TARIFF OF TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF CARRIAGE APPLICABLE TO THE PROVISION OF INTERNATIONAL AND ANCILLARY SERVICE THERETO;

TICKET MEANS THE ELECTRONIC CONFIRMATION GENERATED BY THE CARRIER'S CENTRAL RESERVATIONS SYSTEM, OR CONFIRMATION NUMBER, BAGGAGE CHECK AND ACCOMPANYING NOTICES THAT INCORPORATE THIS CONTRACT OF CARRIAGE;

TRAFFIC MEANS ANY PASSENGERS, GOODS OR MAIL THAT ARE TRANSPORTED BY AIR; TRANSBORDER SERVICE MEANS SCHEDULED OR NON-SCHEDULED AIR SERVICE (EXCLUDING CHARTERS) FOR THE TRANSATLANTIC ITINERARY MEANS AN ITINERARY INCLUDING POINTS IN EUROPE OR AFRICA; TRANSPORTATION OF PASSENGER AND GOODS FROM AND TO POINTS WITHIN CANADA AND POINTS IN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA. UNCONTROLLABLE MEANS CAUSED PRIMARILY BY FACTORS OUTSIDE THE CARRIER'S CONTROL; WARSAW CONVENTION MEANS THE CONVENTION FOR THE UNIFICATION OF CERTAIN RULES RELATING TO INTERNATIONAL CARRIAGE BY AIR, SIGNED AT WARSAW, OCTOBER 12, 1929, AS AMENDED, BUT NOT INCLUDING THE MONTREAL CONVENTION AS DEFINED ABOVE.

Rule 2 Currency

FOR TRAVEL ORIGINATING IN CANADA, ALL RATES AND CHARGES PUBLISHED IN THIS TARIFF ARE PUBLISHED IN THE LAWFUL CURRENCY OF CANADA (CAD) OR THE UNITED STATES (USD), AS INDICATED. EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE INDICATED, FEES APPLICABLE TO BOOKINGS WILL BE IN THE CURRENCY (CAD OR USD) CORRESPONDING TO THE CURRENCY UNDER WHICH THE ORIGINAL BOOKING WAS MADE -, EXCEPT FOR FEES PAID AT AN AIRPORT, WHICH WILL BE CHARGED IN THE LOCAL CURRENCY. FOR TRAVEL ORIGINATING IN OTHER COUNTRIES, THE RATES AND CHARGES MAY BE PUBLISHED IN ANOTHER CURRENCY, AS SPECIFIED.

Rule 3 Mileage Determination

FOR THE PURPOSE OF COMPUTING ALL RATES AND CHARGES UNDER THIS TARIFF, THE MILEAGE TO BE USED, INCLUDING BOTH LIVE FLIGHT AND FERRY FLIGHT MILEAGE, WILL BE THE SHORTEST MILEAGE COVERING THE ACTUAL AIRPORT TO AIRPORT GREAT CIRCLE DISTANCE OF THE APPLICABLE FLIGHT, USING THE FOLLOWING SOURCES IN THE ORDER SET OUT BELOW OR IN COMBINATION:

- (A) AIR DISTANCE MANUAL PUBLISHED JOINTLY BY THE INTERNATIONAL AIR TRANSPORT ASSOCIATION AND INTERNATIONAL AERADIO LIMITED;
- (B) IATA MILEAGE MANUAL PUBLISHED BY THE INTERNATIONAL AIR TRANSPORT ASSOCIATION;
- (C) AND/OR COMBINATION THEREOF OF (A) AND (B) ABOVE;
- (D) SABRE FLIGHT PLANNING SYSTEM

Rule 5 Application of Tarifft^Δ

THIS TARIFF SHALL APPLY TO THE TRAFFIC AND TRANSPORTATION OF PASSENGERS AND GOODS USING AIRCRAFT OPERATED BY THE CARRIER IN RESPECT OF;

- (A) A TRANSBORDER SERVICE
- (B) A CARGO SERVICE
- (C) THIS TARIFF CONTAINS THE CONDITIONS OF CARRIAGE AND PRACTICES UPON WHICH THE CARRIER TRANSPORTS AND AGREES TO TRANSPORT AND ARE EXPRESSLY AGREED TO BY THE PASSENGER TO THE SAME EXTENT AS IF SUCH RULES WERE INCLUDED AS CONDITIONS IN THE CONTRACT OF CARRIAGE, PROVIDED THAT IN THE EVENT OF ANY CONFLICT BETWEEN THIS TARIFF AND THE CANADA TRANSPORTATION ACT, THE APPR, THE CARRIAGE BY AIR ACT, OR OTHER APPLICABLE LAW, THE APPLICABLE LAW SHALL GOVERN TO THE EXTENT OF SUCH CONFLICT. TRANSPORTATION IS SUBJECT TO THE RULES, FARES AND CHARGES IN EFFECT ON THE DATE ON WHICH SUCH TRANSPORTATION COMMENCES AT THE POINT OF ORIGIN DESIGNATED ON THE TICKETS.
- (D) PORTER AIRLINES IS A "SMALL CARRIER" AS DEFINED IN THE APPR.
- (E) REFERENCES TO PAGES, RULES, ITEMS AND NOTES ARE CONTINUOUS AND INCLUDE REVISIONS, SUPPLEMENTS THERETO AND REISSUES THEREOF.
- (F) THE CARRIER WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE FURNISHING OF TRANSPORTATION ONLY OVER ITS OWN LINES. WHEN ANY CARRIER UNDERTAKES TO ISSUE A TICKET, CHECK BAGGAGE, OR MAKE ANY OTHER ARRANGEMENTS FOR TRANSPORTATION OVER THE LINES OF ANY OTHER CARRIER (WHETHER OR NOT SUCH TRANSPORTATION IS PART OF A THROUGH SERVICE), SUCH CARRIER WILL ACT ONLY AS AGENT FOR SUCH OTHER CARRIER AND WILL ASSUME NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACTS OR OMISSIONS OF SUCH OTHER CARRIER.
- (G) NO AGENT, EMPLOYEE OR REPRESENTATIVE OF THE CARRIER HAS AUTHORITY TO ALTER, MODIFY OR WAIVE ANY PROVISIONS OF THE CONTRACT OF CARRIAGE OR OF THIS TARIFF UNLESS AUTHORIZED IN WRITING BY AN OFFICER OF THE CARRIER.
- (H) AIR TRANSPORTATION CONTRACT REQUIREMENT
 NO INTERNATIONAL SERVICE OR CARGO SERVICE SHALL BE
 FURNISHED BY THE CARRIER UNDER THE TERMS OF THIS TARIFF
 UNLESS AN APPROPRIATE WRITTEN AIR TRANSPORTATION
 CONTRACT, IN THE FORM PRESCRIBED BY THE CARRIER, IS
 EXECUTED BY THE PASSENGER AND THE CARRIER IN RESPECT OF
 AN INTERNATIONAL SERVICE AND THE CARRIER AND ANY PERSON
 IN RESPECT OF A CARGO SERVICE.

-

[†] Tracked changes applicable to/from Canada and annotated throughout the entirety of Rule 5 are effective June 05, 2024, pursuant to Order No. 2021-A-3 of the CTA.

 $^{^{\}Delta}$ Tracked changes applicable to/from the United States and annotated throughout the entirety of Rule 5 are effective June 05, 2024, pursuant to Docket OST-97-2050 of the DOT.

- (I) INCORPORATION OF TARIFF INTO AIR TRANSPORTATION CONTRACT THE CONTENTS OF THIS TARIFF SHALL FORM PART OF ANY AIR TRANSPORT CONTRACT BETWEEN THE CARRIER AND A PASSENGER (INCLUDING WITH RESPECT TO THE PASSENGER'S GOODS), BETWEEN THE CARRIER AND ANY OTHER PERSON IN RESPECT OF CARGO SERVICES, AND IF THERE IS A CONFLICT BETWEEN THIS TARIFF AND THAT CONTRACT, THIS TARIFF SHALL PREVAIL.
- (J) CONDITIONS OF APPLICATION
 UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED HEREIN, ALL TRANSBORDER
 SERVICES AND CARGO SERVICES PROVIDED BY THE CARRIER
 UNDER THIS TARIFF SHALL BE SUBJECT TO THE RULES, RATES
 AND CHARGES PUBLISHED OR REFERRED TO IN THIS TARIFF IN
 EFFECT, FROM TIME TO TIME, BY THE VIRTUE OF THE
 EFFECTIVE DATE ON EACH PAGE, ON THE DATE SIGNING OF AN
 AIR TRANSPORTATION CONTRACT.
 NOTE: FROM TIME TO TIME, PORTER WILL ENTER INTO CODE-SHARING
 AGREEMENTS WHEREBY IT WILL MARKET, AS ITS OWN, FLIGHTS OPERATED
 BY ANOTHER AIR CARRIER. IN THE CASE OF CODE-SHARE, THE RULES
 APPLICABLE TO A PASSENGER'S TRANSPORTATION, AND THAT OF THEIR
 BAGGAGE, ARE THOSE OF THE CARRIER IDENTIFIED ON THE PASSENGER'S
 TICKET AND NOT OF THE CARRIER OPERATING THE FLIGHT.
- (I) ERRONEOUS FARES
 - (1) THE CARRIER RESERVES THE RIGHT TO CANCEL RESERVATIONS AND/OR TICKETS ISSUED WITH AN ERRONEOUSLY QUOTED FARE.
 - (2) AN ERRONEOUSLY QUOTED FARE IS ONE WHICH THE CARRIER HAS, IN GOOD FAITH, MISTAKENLY PUBLISHED AND WHICH IS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS WHEN COMPARED TO FARES USUALLY PUBLISHED IN THE RELEVANT ROUTING. (3) THE CARRIER RESERVES THE RIGHT TO VOID THE PURCHASED TICKET
 - AND REFUND THE AMOUNT PAID BY THE CUSTOMER OR, IF CUSTOMER AGREES TO FOREGO THE REFUND, OFFER THE CUSTOMER THE TICKET AT A PUBLISHED FARE THAT SHOULD HAVE BEEN AVAILABLE AT TIME OF BOOKING.
 - (4) THE CARRIER WILL USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO NOTIFY THE CUSTOMER AS PROMPTLY AS PRACTICABLE AFTER THE CARRIER BECOMES AWARE OF THE PUBLISHING OF AN ERRONEOUS FARE, THAT ALL OR ANY PORTION OF THEIR TICKETED ITINERARY HAS BEEN CANCELLED
 - (5) WITH RESPECT TO INTERLINE ITINERARIES, THE CARRIER WILL COORDINATE WITH OTHER CARRIERS IN ORDER TO DETERMINE WHICH OF THE INTERLINE CARRIERS WILL NOTIFY THE CUSTOMER

Rule 10 Rates and Charges - Transborder Servicet

(A) TRANSBORDER SERVICE RATES AND CHARGES
AT THIS TIME CARRIER OPERATES TO/FROM THE UNITED STATES
OF AMERICA. PLEASE NOTE THAT AS PER THE MOST RECENT
CANADA/UNITED STATES BILATERAL AIR AGREEMENT, CARRIER'S
WHO OPERATE IN THIS MARKET ARE NO LONGER REQUIRED TO
FILE FARES, RATES AND CHARGES WITH THE CANADIAN
TRANSPORTATION AGENCY. HOWEVER, THE FARES RATES AND
CHARGES OF THE CARRIER MAY BE FOUND ON
WWW.PORTERAIRLINES.COM.

(B) PAYMENT TERMS

ALL FARES ARE DUE AND PAYABLE BY A PASSENGER AT THE TIME OF THE BOOKING OF THE FLIGHT AND ON PAYMENT IN RESPECT OF SUCH FLIGHT, THE CARRIER, OR AN AGENT OF THE CARRIER AUTHORIZED FOR THAT PURPOSE, SHALL ISSUE AN ITINERARY TO THE PASSENGER SETTING FORTH THE DETAILS OF THE FLIGHT. IF NO CHANGES ARE MADE BY THE PASSENGER PRIOR TO TRAVEL, THE CARRIER GUARANTEES THAT THE FARE PAID AT THE TIME OF BOOKING SHALL BE HONOURED. THE CARRIER MAY REQUIRE THE PASSENGER TO PRESENT THE CREDIT CARD USED TO PAY FOR A BOOKING WHEN THE PASSENGER ATTENDS AT THE AIRPORT ON THE DAY OF TRAVEL

(C) PASSENGER CANCELLATION, CHANGE AND REFUND TERMS
EXCEPT IN THE CASE OF PORTERCLASSIC "BASIC" FARE BOOKINGS,
ALL FARES ARE CHANGEABLE AND CANCELLABLE BY A PASSENGER UP
TO ONE (1) HOUR PRIOR TO PLANNED DEPARTURE OF THE FLIGHT
TO WHICH SUCH FARE RELATES; PROVIDED THAT, IN RESPECT OF
SUCH CHANGE OR CANCELLATION, THE FOLLOWING SHALL APPLY:
(1) PORTERCLASSIC "STANDARD" FARES SHALL BE NON-REFUNDABLE
AND SUBJECT TO A \$100.00 USD/CAD CHANGE CHARGE AND A
\$150.00 USD/CAD CANCELLATION CHARGE PER PASSENGER ON
TRANSATLANTIC ITINERARIES OR A
\$100.00 USD/CAD CHANGE/CANCELLATION CHARGE PER PASSENGER

ON ALL OTHER ITINERARIES, PLUS THE DIFFERENCE IN FARE, EXCEPT WHERE THE PASSENGER REQUESTS A CHANGE AT THE AIRPORT ON THE DATE OF TRAVEL, IN WHICH CASE A \$150.00 USD/CAD FLAT FEE PER DIRECTION APPLIES (WITH NO CHARGE FOR ANY FARE DIFFERENCE). PORTERCLASSIC "BASIC" FARES CANNOT BE CHANGED OR

PORTERCLASSIC "BASIC" FARES CANNOT BE CHANGED OR CANCELLED AT ANY TIME, EXCEPT WITHIN 24 HOURS OF BOOKING (SEE (B)).

PORTERCLASSIC "FLEXIBLE" FARES SHALL BE NON-REFUNDABLE AND CHANGES ARE PERMITTED AT NO CHARGE, SUBJECT ONLY TO THE PAYMENT OF ANY DIFFERENCE IN FARE, EXCEPT WHERE THE PASSENGER REQUESTS A CHANGE AT THE AIRPORT ON THE DATE OF TRAVEL, IN WHICH CASE A \$75.00 USD/CAD FLAT FEE PER DIRECTION APPLIES (WITH NO CHARGE FOR ANY FARE DIFFERENCE).

IF A FARE IS CANCELLED, THE CARRIER SHALL PROVIDE THE PASSENGER WITH A CREDIT, VALID FOR ONE YEAR FROM

[†] Tracked changes applicable to/from Canada and annotated throughout the entirety of Rule 10 are effective June 05, 2024, pursuant to Order No. 2021-A-3 of the CTA.

> THE ORIGINAL TICKET ISSUANCE DATE, TOWARDS THE PROVISION OF A FARE RELATING TO A FUTURE FLIGHT. WHICH CREDIT SHALL BE EQUAL TO THE ORIGINAL FARE WHICH WAS CANCELLED, LESS THE CHANGE/CANCELLATION CHARGE, IF APPLICABLE. WHEN REDEEMING THE CREDIT TOWARD A FUTURE BOOKING, PASSENGER MAY APPLY THE CREDIT TOWARD THE BASE FARE, AIRLINES SURCHARGES, CHANGE FEES, AND GOVERNMENT TAXES AND FEES. CREDIT CAN BE USED ONE TIME ONLY. IF THE TOTAL COST OF TRANSACTION TO WHICH THE CREDIT IS APPLIED IS LESS THAN THE VALUE OF THE CREDIT, THE RESIDUAL VALUE LEFT FROM ITS USE IS FORFEITED. **BOOKINGS USING** CREDIT MUST BE IN THE NAME OF THE OWNER OF THE CREDIT MAY BE TRANSFERRED TO ANOTHER CREDIT. TRAVELER ONE TIME ONLY, AND THE CREDIT'S ORIGINAL EXPIRATION DATE SHALL CONTINUE TO APPLY AFTER ANY SUCH TRANSFER;

- (2) THE CARRIER SHALL WAIVE THE CHANGE/CANCELLATION FEE WHERE A RESERVATION IS CHANGED/CANCELLED WITHIN TWENTY-FOUR (24) HOURS WHEN THE RESERVATION WAS MADE:
- (3) THE FARES OF PASSENGERS WHO FAIL TO SHOW UP FOR THE FLIGHT TO WHICH THE FARE RELATES AND DO NOT OTHERWISE CANCEL THEIR RESERVATION OR CHANGE THEIR RESERVATION BY THE END OF THE DAY OF SUCH FLIGHT, SHALL BE NON-REFUNDABLE AND NON-CREDITABLE TOWARDS FUTURE FLIGHT;
- (4) NOTWITHSTANDING THE ABOVE, THE CARRIER RESERVES THE RIGHT TO WAIVE, IN WHOLE OR PART, THE PAYMENT BY ANY PASSENGER OF A CANCELLATION FEE OR A CHANGE FEE.

Rule 12 Passport and Visas

- (A) EACH PASSENGER DESIRING TRANSPORTATION ACROSS ANY INTERNATIONAL BOUNDARY SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING ALL NECESSARY TRAVEL DOCUMENTS AND FOR COMPLYING WITH THE LAWS OF EACH COUNTRY FROM, THROUGH OR TO WHICH HE DESIRES TRANSPORTATION, AND UNLESS APPLICABLE LAWS PROVIDE OTHERWISE, SHALL INDEMNIFY THE CARRIER FOR ANY LOSS, DAMAGE, OR EXPENSE SUFFERED OR INCURRED BY THE CARRIER BY REASON OF SUCH PASSENGER'S FAILURE TO DO SO. THE CARRIER SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY AID OR INFORMATION GIVEN BY ANY AGENT OR EMPLOYEE OF THE CARRIER TO ANY PASSENGER IN CONNECTION WITH OBTAINING SUCH DOCUMENTS OR COMPLYING WITH SUCH LAWS, WHETHER GIVEN ORALLY OR IN WRITING OR OTHERWISE; OR FOR THE CONSEQUENCES TO ANY PASSENGER RESULTING FROM HIS FAILURE TO OBTAIN SUCH DOCUMENTS OR TO COMPLY WITH SUCH LAWS.
- (B) SUBJECT TO APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS, THE PASSENGER SHALL PAY THE APPLICABLE FARE WHENEVER THE CARRIER, ON GOVERNMENT ORDER, IS REQUIRED TO RETURN A PASSENGER TO HIS POINT OF ORIGIN OR ELSEWHERE DUE TO THE PASSENGER'S INADMISSIBILITY INTO OR DEPORTATION FROM A COUNTRY, WHETHER OF TRANSIT OR OF DESTINATION. APPLICABLE WILL BE THE FARE THAT WOULD HAVE BEEN APPLICABLE HAD THE ORIGINAL TICKET DESIGNATED THE REVISED DESTINATION ON THE NEW TICKET. ANY DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE FARE SO APPLICABLE AND THE FARE PAID BY THE PASSENGER WILL BE COLLECTED FROM OR REFUNDED TO THE PASSENGER AS THE CASE MAY BE. THE CARRIER WILL APPLY TO THE PAYMENT OF SUCH FARES ANY FUNDS PAID BY THE PASSENGER TO THE CARRIER FOR UNUSED CARRIAGE, OR ANY FUNDS OF THE PASSENGER IN POSSESSION OF THE CARRIER. THE FARE COLLECTED FOR CARRIAGE TO THE POINT OF REFUSAL OR DEPORTATION WILL NOT BE REFUNDED BY THE CARRIER UNLESS THE LAW OF SUCH COUNTRY REQUIRES THAT SUCH FARE BE REFUNDED.

Rule 15 Capacity Limitations

THE CARRIER MAY LIMIT THE NUMBER OF PASSENGERS CARRIED ON ANY ONE FLIGHT AT FARES GOVERNED BY RULES MAKING REFERENCE HERETO AND SUCH FARES WILL NOT NECESSARILY BE AVAILABLE ON ALL FLIGHTS OPERATED BY THE CARRIER. THE NUMBER OF SEATS WHICH THE CARRIER SHALL MAKE AVAILABLE ON A GIVEN FLIGHT WILL BE DETERMINED BY THE CARRIER'S BEST JUDGEMENT AS TO THE ANTICIPATED TOTAL PASSENGER LOAD ON EACH FLIGHT.

Rule 21 Transportation of a Person with A Disability

- (A) ACCEPTANCE OF A PASSENGER WITH A DISABILITY
 - (1) THE CARRIER WILL ACCEPT THE DETERMINATION OF A PERSON WITH A DISABILITY AS TO SELF-RELIANCE. WHEN A PASSENGER HAS ADVISED A CARRIER OF HIS SELF-RELIANCE, A CARRIER SHALL NOT REFUSE SUCH PASSENGER TRANSPORTATION ON THE BASIS THAT THERE IS A LACK OF ESCORT OR THAT THE PASSENGER MAY REQUIRE ADDITIONAL ATTENTION FROM AIRLINE EMPLOYEES.
 - (2) PASSENGERS WITH A DISABILITY WILL BE ACCEPTED FOR TRANSPORTATION AS OUTLINED BELOW:

DISABILITY ASSISTANT REQUIRED **BLIND** NO DEAF NO BLIND AND DEAF YES INTELLECTUAL DISABLED/ NO SELF RELIANT INTELLECTUAL DISABLED/ NON SELF RELIANT YES AMBULATORY/SELF RELIANT NO AMBULATORY/NON SELF RELIANT YES NON-AMBULATORY/ SELF RELIANT NO NON-AMBULATORY/

YES

NON SELF RELIANT THE MAXIMUM PER FLIGHT MAY BE LIMITED SUBJECT TO PASSENGER SAFETY LIMITATIONS, AIRCRAFT SPECIFICATIONS, AND AIRPORT HANDLING FACILITIES AVAILABLE AT DEPARTURE OR ARRIVAL AIRPORTS.

- (3) THE CARRIER RESERVES THE RIGHT TO REQUIRE A MEDICAL CLEARANCE FROM A REGISTERED PHYSICIAN IF TRAVEL INVOLVES ANY UNUSUAL RISK OR HAZARD TO THE PASSENGER OR TO OTHER PERSONS (INCLUDING, IN CASES OF PREGNANT PASSENGERS, UNBORN CHILDREN).
- (4) THE CARRIER WILL REFUSE TO TRANSPORT, OR WILL REMOVE AT ANY POINT, ANY PASSENGER WHOSE ACTIONS OR INACTIONS PROVE TO THE CARRIER THAT HIS OR HER MENTAL OR PHYSICAL CONDITION IS SUCH AS TO RENDER HIM INCAPABLE OF CARING FOR HIM OR HERSELF WITHOUT ASSISTANCE, UNLESS HE OR SHE IS ACCOMPANIED BY AN ATTENDANT WHO WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CARING FOR HIM OR HER EN ROUTE AND, WITH THE CARE OF SUCH AN ATTENDANT, HE OR SHE WILL NOT REQUIRE UNREASONABLE ATTENTION OR ASSISTANCE FROM THE AIR CREW.
- (B) PASSENGERS WITH A DISABILITY WILL NOT BE PERMITTED TO OCCUPY SEATS IN DESIGNATED EMERGENCY EXIT ROWS
- (C) RESERVATIONS SHOULD BE MADE AT LEAST 48 HOURS IN ADVANCE OF TRAVEL, ADVISING THE CARRIER THROUGH ITS CALL CENTRE AS TO THE NATURE OF THE DISABILITY AND ASSISTANCE REQUIRED, SO THAT ARRANGEMENTS CAN BE MADE. THE CARRIER WILL MAKE A REASONABLE EFFORT TO ACCOMMODATE PASSENGERS WHO FAIL TO MAKE RESERVATIONS 48 HOURS IN ADVANCE.

- (D) THE CARRIER WILL ACCEPT THE FOLLOWING ITEMS AS PRIORITY CHECKED BAGGAGE WITHOUT CHARGE:
 - (1) CARRIER WILL ACCEPT WHEELCHAIRS WITH NON-SPILLABLE DRY CELL BATTERIES, INCLUDING LEAD ACID, WITH TERMINALS DISCONNECTED AND TAPED.
 - (2) CARRIER WILL ACCEPT BATTERY POWERED SCOOTERS IN THE SAME MANNER AS GUEST OWNED WHEELCHAIRS. PASSENGERS WILL BE REQUIRED TO CHECK THEIR SCOOTER IN AND TRANSFER TO A WHEELCHAIR PROVIDED BY CARRIER. ADEQUATE TIME IS NEEDED TO DISCONNECT/CONNECT AND DISMANTLE AND REASSEMBLE THE SCOOTER BEFORE AND AFTER THE FLIGHT AND THE CARRIER SHALL MAKE BEST EFFORTS TO PERFORM THIS TASK IN A TIMELY MANNER.
 - (3) OTHER MOBILITY AIDS: CARRIER WILL ACCEPT WALKERS, CANES, CRUTCHES, PROSTHESES, COMMUNICATION DEVICES AND OTHER MEDICAL DEVICES AT NO EXTRA CHARGE AND IN ADDITION TO THE LUGGAGE ALLOWANCE. WALKERS, CRUTCHES AND CANES MAY BE RETAINED BY THE GUEST WHILE IN FLIGHT, IF THEY ARE STOWED AWAY SAFELY.
- (E) THE CARRIER WILL ACCEPT FOR TRANSPORTATION, WITHOUT CHARGE, A SERVICE ANIMAL REQUIRED TO ASSIST A PERSON WITH A DISABILITY PROVIDED THAT THE ANIMAL IS PROPERLY HARNESSED AND CERTIFIED AS HAVING BEEN TRAINED BY A PROFESSIONAL SERVICE ANIMAL INSTITUTION. SUCH AN ANIMAL MAY NOT OCCUPY A SEAT IN THE AIRCRAFT. FOR THE COMFORT OF ALL PASSENGERS, THE CARRIER STAFF WILL DETERMINE, IN CONSULTATION WITH THE PERSON WITH A DISABILITY, WHERE THE PERSON AND SERVICE ANIMAL WILL BE SEATED. SERVICE ANIMALS WILL NOT BE CARRIED UNLESS PROPER PERMITS ARE OBTAINED FOR ENTRY INTO THE COUNTRIES OF TRANSIT/FINAL DESTINATION, AND SUCH PERMITS ARE PRESENTED PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF TRAVEL.
- (F) IF A MOBILITY AID IS DAMAGED OR LOST, THE CARRIER WILL IMMEDIATELY PROVIDE A SUITABLE TEMPORARY REPLACEMENT WITHOUT CHARGE. IF A DAMAGED AID CAN BE REPAIRED, THE CARRIER WILL ARRANGE, AT ITS EXPENSE, FOR THE PROMPT AND ADEQUATE REPAIR OF THE AID AND RETURN IT TO THE PASSENGER AS SOON AS POSSIBLE.

 IF A DAMAGED AID CANNOT BE REPAIRED OR IS LOST AND CANNOT BE LOCATED WITHIN 96 HOURS AFTER THE PASSENGER'S ARRIVAL, THE CARRIER WILL, AT ITS DISCRETION, REPLACE IT WITH AN IDENTICAL AID SATISFACTORY TO THE PASSENGER, OR REIMBURSE THE PASSENGER FOR THE REPLACEMENT COST OF THE AID.
- (G) THE CARRIER WILL ENSURE THAT SERVICES ARE PROVIDED TO PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES WHEN A REQUEST FOR SUCH SERVICES IS MADE AT LEAST 48 HOURS PRIOR TO DEPARTURE, AND WILL MAKE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO ACCOMMODATE REQUESTS NOT MADE WITHIN THIS TIME LIMIT. SERVICES TO PROVIDED UPON REQUEST WILL INCLUDE:
 - (1) ASSISTING WITH REGISTRATION AT THE CHECK-IN COUNTER;
 - (2) ASSISTING IN PROCEEDING TO THE BOARDING AREA;
 - (3) ASSISTING IN BOARDING DEPLANING;
 - (4) ASSISTING IN STOWING AND RETRIEVING CARRY-ON BAGGAGE AND RETRIEVING CHECKED BAGGAGE;
 - (5) ASSISTING AND MOVING TO AND FROM AN AIRCRAFT LAVATORY;
 - (6) ASSISTING IN PROCEEDING TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC AREA

- OR, IN SOME CASES, TO A REPRESENTATIVE OF ANOTHER CARRIER;
- (7) TRANSFERRING A PERSON BETWEEN THE PERSON'S OWN MOBILITY AID AND A MOBILITY PROVIDED BY THE CARRIER;
- (8) TRANSFERRING A PERSON BETWEEN A MOBILITY AID AND THE PERSON'S PASSENGER SEAT;
- (9) PROVIDING LIMITED ASSISTANCE WITH MEALS, SUCH AS OPENING PACKAGES, IDENTIFYING ITEMS AND CUTTING LARGE FOOD PORTIONS;
- (10) INQUIRING PERIODICALLY DURING A FLIGHT ABOUT A PERSON'S NEEDS, AND
- (11) BRIEFING INDIVÍDUAL PASSENGERS WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR ATTENDANT ON EMERGENCY PROCEDURES AND THE LAYOUT OF THE CABIN.

Rule 25 Refusal to Transport

THE CARRIER MAY RESERVE THE RIGHT TO REFUSE TO TRANSPORT OR MAY REMOVE FROM ANY FLIGHT ANY PASSENGER FOR ANY REASON, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO THE FOLLOWING:

- (A) GOVERNMENT REQUEST OF REGULATIONS -WHENEVER SUCH ACTION IS NECESSARY TO COMPLY WITH ANY GOVERNMENT REGULATION, OR TO COMPLY WITH ANY GOVERNMENT REQUEST FOR EMERGENCY TRANSPORTATION IN CONNECTION WITH THE NATIONAL DEFENSE, OR WHENEVER SUCH ACTION IS NECESSARY OR ADVISABLE BY REASON OF WEATHER OR OTHER CONDITIONS BEYOND ITS CONTROL (INCLUDING BUT WITHOUT LIMITATION, ACTS OF GOD, OR EVENT OF FORCE MAJEURE, STRIKES, CIVIL COMMOTIONS, EMBARGOES, WARS, HOSTILITIES OR DISTURBANCES) ACTUAL, THREATENED OR REPORTED.
- (B) SEARCH OF PASSENGER OR PROPERTY IF A PASSENGER REFUSES TO PERMIT SEARCH OF HIS PERSON OR PROPERTY FOR EXPLOSIVES OR A CONCEALED, DEADLY OR DANGEROUS WEAPON OR ARTICLE.
- (C) PROOF OF IDENTITY/AGE IF A PASSENGER REFUSES TO PROVIDE PROOF OF AGE OR IDENTITY AS REQUESTED BY THE CARRIER, THE CARRIER MAY, AT ITS DISCRETION AND AT ANY TIME, REFUSE TO TRANSPORT THE PASSENGER. IN ADDITION, WHEN A PASSENGER IS TRAVELING ON A FARE WHICH HAS A PARTICULAR AGE REQUIREMENT FOR QUALIFICATION, PROOF OF AGE MAY BE REQUIRED. ACCEPTABLE FORMS OF PROOF OF IDENTITY MUST BE GOVERNMENT ISSUED AND DISPLAY DATE OF BIRTH SUCH AS A VALID DRIVER'S LICENSE, PASSPORT OR PROVINCIAL HEALTH CARE CARD. FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROOF AS REQUESTED CONSTITUTES GROUNDS FOR REFUSAL TO TRANSPORT.
- (D) TRAVEL DOCUMENTATION REQUIREMENTS THE CARRIER WILL REFUSE TO TRANSPORT: ANY PASSENGER, WHO IN THE CARRIERS OPINION:
 - (1) THE TRAVEL DOCUMENTS OF SUCH PASSENGER ARE NOT IN ORDER:
 - (2)SUCH PASSENGER'S ENTRY INTO, TRANSITS THROUGH OR EMBARKATION FROM CANADA OR ANY OTHER POINT WOULD BE UNLAWFUL.
- (E) REFUSAL TO COMPLY WITH PUBLIC HEALTH/SAFETY MEASURES IF A PASSENGER REFUSES TO COMPLY WITH REASONABLE PUBLIC HEALTH SCREENINGS OR OTHER PROCEDURES AIMED AT PROTECTING PUBLIC HEALTH, IRRESPECTIVE OF WHETHER THOSE PROCEDURES ARE IMPOSED OR CONDUCTED BY THE CARRIER OR ANOTHER PARTY SUCH AS AN AIRPORT AUTHORITY OR GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORITY.
- (F) PASSENGER'S CONDUCT/BEHAVIOR THE CARRIER MAY IMPOSE SANCTIONS ON ANY PERSON WHO ENGAGES IN OR HAS ENGAGED IN ANY CONDUCT OR BEHAVIOR ON THE CARRIER'S AIRCRAFT, OR TO THE KNOWLEDGE OR REASONABLE BELIEF OF THE CARRIER, ON ANY AIRPORT PROPERTY OR OTHER CARRIER'S AIRCRAFT, THAT THE CARRIER'S DETERMINES, IN ITS REASONABLE JUDGMENT, MAY HAVE A NEGATIVE EFFECT ON THE SAFETY, COMFORT OR HEALTH OF THAT PERSON, PASSENGERS, THE CARRIER'S EMPLOYEES OR AGENTS, AIRCREW OR AIRCRAFT OR THE SAFE

OPERATIONS OF THE CARRIER'S AIRCRAFT (THE "PROHIBITED CONDUCT").

- (1) EXAMPLES OF PROHIBITED CONDUCT THAT COULD GIVE RISE TO THE IMPOSITION OF SANCTIONS INCLUDE:
 - (A) SIGNIFICANT IMPAIRMENT ARISING FROM THE CONSUMPTION OR USE OF ALCOHOL OR DRUGS PRIOR TO BOARDING OR WHILE ON BOARD AN AIRCRAFT OF THE CARRIER;
 - (B) ENGAGING IN BELLIGERENT, LEWD OR OBSCENE BEHAVIOR TOWARD A PASSENGER OR EMPLOYEE OR AGENT OF THE CARRIER;
 - (C) THREATENING, HARASSING, INTIMIDATING, ASSAULTING OR INJURING A PASSENGER OR EMPLOYEE OR AGENT OF THE CARRIER;
 - (D) TAMPERING WITH OR WILLFULLY DAMAGING AN AIRCRAFT, ITS EQUIPMENT OR OTHER PROPERTY OF THE CARRIER;
 - (E) FAILING TO COMPLY WITH ALL INSTRUCTIONS, INCLUDING ALL INSTRUCTIONS TO CEASE PROHIBITED CONDUCT, GIVEN BY THE CARRIER'S EMPLOYEES;
 - (F) UNAUTHORIZED INTRUSION OR ATTEMPTED INTRUSION ONTO THE FLIGHT DECK OF AN AIRCRAFT;
 - (G) SMOKING OR ATTEMPTED SMOKING IN AN AIRCRAFT;
 - (H) WHILE ONBOARD THE AIRCRAFT, FILMING, PHOTOGRAPHING, OR RECORDING THE IMAGE AND/OR VOICE BY ANY OTHER ELECTRONIC MEANS OF OTHER PASSENGERS AND/OR CREW WITHOUT THE EXPRESS CONSENT OF THE PERSON(S) BEING FILMED, PHOTOGRAPHED OR RECORDED, OR CONTINUES TO FILM, PHOTOGRAPH OR RECORD THE IMAGE OF OTHER PASSENGERS AND/OR CREW AFTER BEING ADVISED TO CEASE SUCH CONDUCT BY A MEMBER OF THE CREW.
 - (I) WEARING OR CARRYING DANGEROUS OR DEADLY WEAPONS ON AIRCRAFT (OTHER THAN ON DUTY ESCORT OR PEACE OFFICERS WHO HAVE COMPLIED WITH THE CARRIER'S GUIDELINES).
- (2) THE SANCTIONS THE CARRIER MAY IMPOSE ON A PERSON MAY BE ANY ONE OR COMBINATION OF THE FOLLOWING:
 - (A) WRITTEN OR VERBAL WARNING;
 - (B) REFUSAL TO PERMIT BOARDING OF AN AIRCRAFT;
 - (C) REMOVAL FROM AN AIRCRAFT AT ANY POINT;
 - (D) REQUIRING THE PERSON, TO UNDERTAKE IN WRITING TO REFRAIN REPEATING THE PROHIBITED CONDUCT IN QUESTION AND FROM ENGAGING IN ANY OTHER PROHIBITED CONDUCT AS A PREREQUISITE TO FURTHER TRAVEL WITH THE CARRIER DURING THE PROBATIONARY PERIOD THAT WILL NOT NORMALLY EXCEED ONE YEAR:
 - (E) REFUSAL TO TRANSPORT THE PERSON ON A ONE TIME BASIS, FOR AN INDEFINITE PERIOD OR PERMANENTLY, AS DETERMINED BY THE CARRIER.

THE CARRIER RESERVES THE RIGHT, IN ITS REASONABLE DISCRETION, TO IMPOSE THE SANCTION OR SANCTIONS IT CONSIDERS APPROPRIATE IN THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF EACH CASE CONSIDERING THE SEVERITY OF THE PROHIBITED CONDUCT.

PROHIBITED CONDUCT DESCRIBED IN (E)(1)(C)(D)(F) OR (G) WILL USUALLY ENTAIL THE IMPOSITION OF AN INDEFINITE OR PERMANENT BAN FROM TRAVEL WITH THE

> THE CARRIER'S CUSTOMER CARE STAFF, SECURITY STAFF, AIRPORT CUSTOMER SERVICE STAFF AND AIRCREW ARE INDIVIDUALLY AUTHORIZED IN THEIR REASONABLE DISCRETION TO IMPOSE SANCTIONS DESCRIBED IN (E)(2)(A)(B) OR (C) ABOVE. MEMBERS OF THE CARRIER'S CUSTOMER CARE AND SECURITY DEPARTMENTS ARE AUTHORIZED IN THEIR REASONABLE DISCRETION TO IMPOSE SANCTIONS DESCRIBED IN PARAGRAPHS (2) (D) OR (C) ABOVE AND WILL REVIEW THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF EACH CASE PRIOR TO THEIR IMPOSITION OF ANY SUCH SANCTIONS. THE CARRIER WILL PROVIDED A PERSON WITH WRITTEN NOTICE OF THE IMPOSITION OF A SANCTION UNDER PARAGRAPHS (2) (D) OR (C) ABOVE. ANY PERSON WHO IS GIVEN SANCTION PURSUANT TO PARAGRAPH (B) V, MAY RESPOND IN WRITING TO THE CARRIER WITH REASONS WHY THE CARRIER SHOULD REMOVE THE CARRIER MAY REMOVE A SANCTION THE SANCTION. IMPOSED ON A PERSON PURSUANT TO PARAGRAPH (B) V, IF, IN THE CARRIER REASONABLE DISCRETION, AND CONSIDERING THE PERSON'S PREVIOUS CONDUCT, THE CARRIER DETERMINES THE PERSON WILL NOT ENGAGE IN FURTHER PROHIBITED CONDUCT AND THE CARRIER WILL COMMUNICATE ITS DECISION THE PERSON WITHIN A REASONABLE TIME. DESPITE ANYTHING WRITTEN ELSEWHERE IN THIS TARIFF THE CARRIER'S SOLE LIABILITY TO A PERSON WHOM THE CARRIER REFUSES TO CARRY FOLLOWING AN INCIDENT OF PROHIBITED CONDUCT IS TO PROVIDE A REFUND TO THE PERSON OF THE UNUSED PORTION OR PORTIONS OF THE PERSON'S FARE.

(3) LIABILITY OF CARRIER FOR REFUSING CARRIAGE OF A PASSENGER EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED FOR IN RULE 25 AND TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE CARRIER SHALL NOT BE LIABLE TO ANY PASSENGER OR OTHER PERSON FOR REFUSING TO BOARD OR TRANSPORT THAT PASSENGER OR ANY PERSON ON AN AIRCRAFT OF THE CARRIER OR FOR OTHERWISE REMOVING A PASSENGER FROM THE AIRCRAFT AT ANY POINT IN THE FLIGHT; NOR SHALL THE CARRIER BE LIABLE TO ANY OF THE PASSENGERS OR OTHER PERSON FOR EXERCISING ITS DISCRETION NOT TO REFUSE TO BOARD OR TRANSPORT OR REMOVE ANY PASSENGER OR OTHER PERSON ON OR FROM THE AIRCRAFT, INCLUDING FULL OR PARTIAL REFUND FOR UNUSED PORTION OF FARE.

Rule 30 Acceptance and Seating of Children

- (A) ACCOMPANIED CHILDREN UNDER 12 YEARS OF AGE ARE ACCEPTED FOR TRANSPORTATION WHEN ACCOMPANIED ON THE SAME FLIGHT AND IN THE SAME COMPARTMENT BY A PASSENGER AT LEAST 16 YEARS OF AGE.
- (B) THE CARRIER

WILL FACILITATE THE ASSIGNMENT OF A SEAT TO A CHILD UNDER THE AGE OF 14 IN CLOSE PROXIMITY TO A PARENT, GUARDIAN OR TUTOR AT NO EXTRA CHARGE, AS FOLLOWS:

(I) THE CARRIER'S AUTOMATIC SEAT ASSIGNMENT⁶ PROCESS, WHICH ASSIGNS

SEATS TO THOSE PASSENGERS WHO HAVE NOT ALREADY
SELECTED THEIR SEATS APPROXIMATELY 24 HOURS PRIOR TO
SCHEDULED DEPARTURE, WILL GIVE PRIORITY TO SEATING
ADULTS AND CHILDREN TOGETHER WHERE THEY ARE BOOKED
ON THE SAME ITINERARY AND THE ADULT HAS PROVIDED THE CHILD'S
DATE OF BIRTH DURING BOOKING, WITHOUT CHARGING ANY ADVANCE
SEAT SELECTION FEE.

- (II) IN ADDITION, PASSENGERS MAY DIRECTLY CONTACT THE CARRIER'S CUSTOMER SERVICE CALL CENTER AND MAKE A REQUEST TO BE SEATED WITH THEIR CHILDREN DURING THE BOOKING PROCESS BY TELEPHONE OR AFTER BOOKING HAS BEEN COMPLETED VIA ANY BOOKING METHOD, AND THE CARRIER WILL ASSIGN THEM SEATS TOGETHER IF SUCH SEATING ARRANGEMENTS REMAIN AVAILABLE AT THE TIME THE REQUEST IS MADE, WITHOUT CHARGING ANY ADVANCE SEAT SELECTION FEE.
- (III) WHERE A PARENT, TUTOR OR GUARDIAN IS TRAVELING WITH A CHILD WHO IS NOT ON THE SAME ITINERARY OR WHO HAS OTHERWISE NOT BEEN ASSIGNED A SEAT WITH AN ACCOMPANYING ADULT, THE CARRIER WILL, UPON REQUEST AT THE AIRPORT, RE-ASSIGN SEATS, INCLUDING BY RELOCATING OTHER PASSENGERS IF NO PASSENGER VOLUNTARILY SURRENDERS THEIR SEAT. (IV) ADULTS ACCOMPANYING CHILDREN MAY SELECT SPECIFIC SEATS

FOR THEMSELVES AND⁶ CHILDREN OR OTHER PASSENGERS ON THEIR ITINERARY IN ADVANCE, EITHER BY PURCHASING A FREEDOM FARE, OR BY PURCHASING A PORTERRESERVE NAVIGATE/ULTIMATE OR PORTERCLASSIC BASIC/STANDARD OR FLEXIBLE FARE AND PAYING THE ADDITIONAL \$10-\$70 FEE CAD/USD PER PASSENGER, PER SEGMENT PLUS APPLICABLE TAXES IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 55.

- (B) UNACCOMPANIED ON FLIGHTS IT OPERATES (BUT NOT ON FLIGHTS OPERATED BY OUR CODESHARE OR INTERLINE PARTNERS), THE CARRIER OFFERS AN UNACCOMPANIED MINOR SERVICE FOR A FEE OF \$100 CAD/USD PLUS APPLICABLE TAXES. CARRIAGE IS TO BE SOLELY ON NONSTOP FLIGHTS OPERATED BY THE CARRIER AND WILL IN NO CIRCUMSTANCES INVOLVE DIRECT FLIGHTS WITH STOPOVER(S) THROUGH FLIGHTS, CONNECTING FLIGHTS OR INTERLINING FLIGHTS. THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS WILL APPLY:
 - (1) UNDER 8 YEARS, NOT ACCEPTED UNDER ANY CONDITIONS.
 - (2) AGES 8-11 YEARS, INCLUSIVE, ACCEPTED PROVIDING:
 - (A) THE CHILD IS BROUGHT TO THE AIRPORT BY A PARENT OR RESPONSIBLE ADULT.

- (B) RESERVATIONS ARE CONFIRMED THROUGH DESTINATION;
- (C) THE CHILD WILL BE MET AND TAKEN INTO CUSTODY OF RESPONSIBLE ADULT AT DESTINATION;
- (D) THE UNACCOMPANIED MINOR FORM IS COMPLETED IN FULL AND ACCOMPANIES THE CHILD FROM ORIGIN STATION TO DESTINATION STATION;
- (E) THE CHILD POSSESSES WRITTEN INFORMATION SHOWING THE NAME AND ADDRESS OF THE RESPONSIBLE ADULT MEETING THE CHILD AT DESTINATION;
- (F) THE FLIGHT ON WHICH SPACE IS HELD IS NOT EXPECTED TO TERMINATE SHORT OF, OR BYPASS THE DESTINATION BECAUSE OF WEATHER CONDITIONS;
- (G) PRIOR TO RELEASE CUSTODY OF AN UNACCOMPANIED CHILD, THE AGENT MUST OBTAIN POSITIVE IDENTIFICATION OF THE RESPONSIBLE PARTY MEETING THE CHILD AND THE SIGNATURE OF THE SAID PARTY.
- (3) HANDLING UNACCOMPANIED CHILDREN IN SITUATIONS INVOLVING IRREGULAR OPERATIONS:
 - (A) THE CARRIER WILL ADVISE THE CONTACT AT DESTINATION IF THE CHILD IS TO ARRIVE AT DESTINATION BY OTHER THAN THE ORIGINAL FLIGHT. IF THE CARRIER IS UNABLE TO REACH THE CONTACT AT DESTINATION IT WILL ADVISE THE CONTACT AT ORIGIN
 - (B) THE CARRIER WILL ASSUME CUSTODY OF THE CHILD IN CASE OF DIVERSION OF FLIGHT.
 - (C) PRIOR TO RELEASING CUSTODY OF AN UNACCOMPANIED CHILD, THE AGENT MUST OBTAIN POSITIVE IDENTIFICATION OF THE RESPONSIBLE PARTY MEETING THE CHILD AND THE SIGNATURE OF THE SAID PARTY.

Rule 35 Limitation of Liability - Passengers

- (A) FOR TRAVEL GOVERNED BY THE MONTREAL CONVENTION FOR THE PURPOSE OF INTERNATIONAL CARRIAGE GOVERNED BY THE MONTREAL CONVENTION, THE LIABILITY RULES SET OUT IN THE MONTREAL CONVENTION ARE FULLY INCORPORATED HEREIN AND SHALL SUPERSEDE AND PREVAIL OVER ANY PROVISIONS OF THIS TARIFF WHICH MAY BE INCONSISTENT WITH THOSE RULES.
- (B) FOR TRAVEL GOVERNED BY THE WARSAW CONVENTION CARRIAGE HEREUNDER IS SUBJECT TO THE RULES AND LIMITATIONS RELATING TO LIABILITY ESTABLISHED BY THE WARSAW CONVENTION UNLESS SUCH CARRIAGE IS NOT "INTERNATIONAL CARRIAGE", AS DEFINED BY THE WARSAW CONVENTION. HOWEVER, THE CARRIER WITH RESPECT TO ALL INTERNATIONAL TRANSPORTATION, AS DEFINED IN THE SAID CONVENTION, PERFORMED BY IT, AGREES THAT THE LIMIT OF LIABILITY FOR EACH PASSENGER FOR DEATH OR WOUNDING OR OTHER PERSONAL INJURY SHALL BE LIMITED TO PROVEN DAMAGES NOT TO EXCEED THE SUM OF SDR 100,000 EXCLUSIVE OF LEGAL FEES AND COST.
- (C) FOR TRAVEL GOVERNED BY EITHER THE MONTREAL CONVENTION OR THE WARSAW CONVENTION NOTHING HERE SHALL BE DEEMED TO AFFECT THE RIGHTS AND LIABILITIES OF THE CARRIER WITH REGARD TO ANY PERSON WHO HAS WILLFULLY CAUSED DAMAGE WHICH RESULTED IN DEATH, WOUNDING, OR OTHER BODILY INJURY OF A PASSENGER.

Rule 40 Limitation of Liability for Baggage or Goods

IN THE EVENT OF THE DAMAGE, DELAY OR LOSS OF BAGGAGE WHILE IN THE CARE OF THE CARRIER, THE AMOUNT OF ANY BAGGAGE FEES PAID TO THE CARRIER IN RESPECT OF THE DAMAGED, DELAYED OR LOST BAGS SHALL BE REFUNDED TO THE PASSENGER.

- (A) FOR TRAVEL GOVERNED BY THE MONTREAL CONVENTION FOR THE PURPOSE OF INTERNATIONAL CARRIAGE GOVERNED BY THE MONTREAL CONVENTION, THE LIABILITY RULES SET OUT IN THE MONTREAL CONVENTION ARE FULLY INCORPORATED HEREIN AND SHALL SUPERSEDE AND PREVAIL OVER ANY PROVISIONS OF THIS TARIFF WHICH MAY BE INCONSISTENT WITH THOSE RULES.
- (B) FOR TRAVEL GOVERNED BY THE WARSAW CONVENTION CARRIER LIABILITY FOR THE LOSS OF, DAMAGE TO OR DELAY IN THE DELIVERY OF ANY PERSONAL PROPERTY, INCLUDING BAGGAGE WHICH ARE CARRIED AS CHECKED BAGGAGE AND GOODS, IS LIMITED TO THE SUM OF 250 FRANCS PER KILOGRAM, UNLESS THE PASSENGER OR CHARTERER, AT THE TIME OF PRESENTING SUCH BAGGAGE OR GOODS FOR TRANSPORTATION, HAS DECLARED A HIGHER VALUE AND PAID AN ADDITIONAL CHARGE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISION OF THIS RULE.

AS REGARDS OBJECTS OF WHICH THE PASSENGER TAKES CHARGE HIMSELF, THE LIABILITY OF THE CARRIER IS LIMITED TO 5,000 FRANCS PER PASSENGER.

IN THE CASE OF LOSS, DAMAGE OR DELAY OF PART OF PROPERTY CARRIED AS CHECKED BAGGAGE, THE WEIGHT TO BE TAKEN INTO CONSIDERATION IN DETERMINING THE AMOUNT TO WHICH THE CARRIER'S LIABILITY IS LIMITED SHALL BE ONLY THE TOTAL WEIGHT OF THE PROPERTY LOST, DAMAGE OR DELAYED. NEVERTHELESS, WHEN THE LOSS, DAMAGE OR DELAY OF A PART OF THE PROPERTY AFFECTS THE VALUE OF OTHER PROPERTY COVERED BY THE SAME BAGGAGE CHECK, THE TOTAL WEIGHT OF THE PROPERTY COVERED BY THE BAGGAGE CHECK SHALL ALSO BE TAKEN INTO CONSIDERATION IN DETERMINING THE LIMIT OF LIABILITY.

THE MONETARY UNIT REFERRED TO IN THIS RULE SHALL BE DEEMED TO REFER TO THE GOLD FRANC REFERRED TO IN THE CARRIAGE BY AIR ACT, R.S.C.C-26. FOR THE PURPOSE OF SETTLEMENT OF CLAIMS AND IN THE EVENT OF AN ACTION AGAINST THE CARRIER, ANY SUM IN FRANCS SHALL BE CONVERTED INTO CANADIAN DOLLARS BY:

- (A) CONVERTING FRANCS INTO SPECIAL DRAWING RIGHTS AT THE RATE OF ONE SPECIAL DRAWING RIGHT FOR 15.075 FRANCS; AND
- (B) CONVERTING SPECIAL DRAWING RIGHTS INTO CANADIAN DOLLARS AT THE RATE ESTABLISHED BY THE INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND.

THE RATE OF EXCHANGE FOR CONVERTING SPECIAL DRAWING RIGHTS INTO CANADIAN DOLLARS SHALL BE THE RATE PREVAILING ON THE DATE ON WHICH THE AMOUNT OF ANY DAMAGE TO BE PAID BY THE CARRIER IS ASCERTAINED BY A COURT OR, IN THE EVENT A SETTLEMENT IS AGREED BETWEEN CARRIER AND CLAIMANT, ON THE DATE SETTLEMENT IS AGREED.

- (C) FOR TRAVEL GOVERNED BY EITHER THE MONTREAL CONVENTION OR THE WARSAW CONVENTION
 - (1) IF THE PASSENGER DOES ELECT TO DECLARE A HIGHER VALUE, AN ADDITIONAL CHARGE SHALL BE PAYABLE AND THE CARRIER'S LIABILITY WILL NOT EXCEED THE HIGHER VALUE DECLARED. THE ADDITIONAL CHARGE SHALL BE CALCULATED AS FOLLOWS:
 - (A) THE AMOUNT OF THE CARRIER'S LIABILITY CALCULATED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PARTS OF THIS RULE SET OUT ABOVE SHALL BE REFERRED TO AS "BASIC CARRIER LIABILITY";
 - (B) NO CHARGE SHALL BE PAYABLE ON THAT PART OF THE DECLARED VALUE WHICH DOES NOT EXCEED BASIC CARRIER LIABILITY;
 - (C) FOR THAT PART OF THE DECLARED VALUE WHICH DOES NOT EXCEED BASIC CARRIER LIABILITY, A CHARGE SHALL BE PAYABLE AT THE RATE OF CAD (1.00) FOR EACH CAD \$100.00 OR FRACTION THEREOF.
 - (2) WHETHER THE PASSENGER DECLARES VALUE OR NOT, IN NO CASE SHALL THE CARRIER'S LIABILITY EXCEED THE ACTUAL LOSS SUFFERED BY THE PASSENGER. ALL CLAIMS ARE SUBJECT TO PROOF OF AMOUNT OF LOSS.
 - (3) IN THE CASE OF DAMAGE, THE PERSON ENTITLED TO DELIVERY MUST COMPLAIN TO THE CARRIER, AT THE LATEST, WITHIN SEVEN DAYS FROM THE DATE OF RECEIPT OF THE BAGGAGE. IN THE CASE OF DELAY, THE COMPLAINT MUST BE MADE AT THE LATEST WITHIN TWENTY ONE DAYS FROM THE DATE ON WHICH THE BAGGAGE HAS BEEN PLACED AT HIS DISPOSAL. EVERY COMPLAINT, WHETHER FOR LOSS, PARTIAL LOSS, DAMAGE OR DELAY, MUST BE MADE IN WRITING VIA THE WEB FEEDBACK FORM ON THE CARRIER'S WEBSITE, AND MUST BE DISPATCHED WITHIN THE TIMES AFORESAID. FAILING COMPLAINT WITHIN THE TIMES AFORESAID, NO ACTION SHALL LIE AGAINST THE CARRIER.

Rule 45 In Cabin Pets Provisions

- (A) ON FLIGHTS OPERATED BY THE CARRIER (BUT NOT ON FLIGHTS OPERATED BY OUR CODESHARE OR INTERLINE PARTNERS), PETS ARE ACCEPTED AS SET FORTH IN THIS RULE, LIMITED TO DOGS AND CATS. ONLY ONE PET PER PASSENGER MAY BE ACCEPTED FOR CARRIAGE IN THE PASSENGER CABIN.
- (B) THE TOTAL NUMBER OF PETS CARRIED IN THE PASSENGER CABIN IS LIMITED TO TWO PETS PER FLIGHT.

(C) PETS MUST BE CARRIED IN A WELL VENTILATED SOFT-SIDED

PET CONTAINER/KENNEL THE DIMENSIONS OF WHICH MUST NOT EXCEED:
HEIGHT WIDTH LENGTH
27CM(10.5 IN) 40CM (15.5 IN) 55CM (21.5 IN)
PETS MUST BE CONTAINED IN A CLEAN, LEAK/ESCAPE PROOF CAGE OR CONTAINER/KENNEL WITH ADEQUATE SPACE FOR THE

COMFORT OF THE PET. THE CAGE OR CONTAINER/KENNEL IS

- SUBJECT TO APPROVAL BY THE CARRIER.

 (D) THE MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE WEIGHT FOR BOTH THE PET AND IN-CABIN PET CAGE OR CONTAINER/KENNEL MUST NOT EXCEED 9 KG/20 LBS.
- (E) THE IN-CABIN CAGE OR CONTAINER/KENNEL MUST BE STORED UNDER THE SEAT DIRECTLY IN FRONT OF THE PASSENGER.
- (F) THE CAGE OR CONTAINER/KENNEL COUNTS AS THE ONE STANDARD ARTICLE OF CARRY-ON BAGGAGE PERMITTED ON BOARD. PASSENGERS WITH THE PETS WILL ONLY BE ALLOWED ONE ADDITIONAL PERSONAL ITEM NOT TO EXCEED 43 CM X 16 CM X 33 CM (17 IN X 6 IN X 13 IN) AND WEIGHING LESS THAN 9 KG (20 LBS). ALL OTHER BAGGAGE MUST BE CHECKED.
- (G) THE PET MUST REMAIN IN THE CAGE OR CONTAINER/KENNEL FOR THE ENTIRE DURATION OF THE JOURNEY.
- (H) PETS MUST TRAVEL WITH AN ADULT FARE PAYING PASSENGER. UNACCOMPANIED MINORS MAY NOT TRAVEL WITH A PET. ADVANCED ARRANGEMENTS OF AT LEAST 24 HOURS PRIOR TO SCHEDULED DEPARTURE TIME MUST BE MADE WITH THE CARRIER.
- (I) THE CARRIER MAY REQUEST A PASSENGER WITH AN IN-CABIN PET TO CHANGE SEATS AFTER BOARDING TO ACCOMMODATE OTHER PASSENGERS.
- (J) CHARGES: THE CHARGE FOR TRANSPORTATION OF A PET AND CAGE OR CONTAINER/KENNEL IN THE PASSENGER CABIN WILL BE \$50 CAD/USD PER ONE WAY FLIGHT.
- (K) LIMITATION OF LIABILITY
 THE PASSENGER ASSUMES FULL RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE PET.
 BEFORE THE PET IS ACCEPTED FOR CARRIAGE, THE PASSENGER
 MUST MAKE ALL NECESSARY ARRANGEMENTS TO OBTAIN VALID
 HEALTH AND VACCINATION CERTIFICATE, ENTRY PERMITS AND
 OTHER DOCUMENTS REQUIRED BY COUNTRIES, STATES OR
 TERRITORIES FOR ENTRY OF TRANSIT. IN THE ABSENCE OF
 SUCH DOCUMENTATION, THE PET WILL NOT BE ACCEPTED FOR
 CARRIAGE.

THE CARRIER WILL NOT ACCEPT RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY EVENT OF LOSS, DELAY, INJURY, SICKNESS OR DEATH OF ANY PET ACCEPTED FOR TRANSPORTATION.

Rule 50 Tickets

- (A) THE TERM TICKET MEANS THE ELECTRONIC CONFIRMATION GENERATED BY THE CARRIER'S CENTRAL RESERVATIONS SYSTEM, OR CONFIRMATION NUMBER, BAGGAGE CHECK, BOARDING PASSES AND ANY DOCUMENT DESIGNATED BY THE CARRIER AS A TICKET AND ACCOMPANYING NOTICES THAT INCORPORATE THIS CONTRACT OF CARRIAGE.
- (B) NO PERSON SHALL BE ENTITLED TO TRANSPORTATION EXCEPT UPON PRESENTATION OF A VALID CONFIRMATION NUMBER AND ACCEPTABLE GOVERNMENT ISSUED PHOTO IDENTIFICATION WITH BIRTH DATE.
- (C) TICKETS ARE NOT TRANSFERABLE AND THE CARRIER IS NOT LIABLE TO THE OWNER OF THE TICKET FOR HONOURING OR REFUNDING SUCH TICKET WHEN PRESENTED BY ANOTHER PERSON.
- (D) CARRIER DOES NOT ACCEPT PAPER TICKETS GENERATED BY ANY OTHER AIR CARRIER OR ITS AGENT.
- (E) EXCEPT IN THE CASE OF PORTERCLASSIC "BASIC" FARE BOOKINGS, THE FLIGHT IDENTIFIED ON THE TICKET MAY BE CHANGED UP TO (1) HOUR PRIOR TO SCHEDULED DEPARTURE TIME UPON PAYMENT OF THE CARRIER'S TICKET CHANGE CHARGE PLUS APPLICABLE TAXES. THE CHARGE IS PAYABLE BY THE TICKET HOLDER AND IS CHARGEABLE PER ONE-WAY TRAVEL, PER PERSON AND PER CHANGE. IF THE SAME FARE IS NOT AVAILABLE AT THE TIME OF REQUESTED CHANGE, THE DIFFERENCE IN FARES WILL BE APPLIED IN ADDITION TO THE CHANGE FEE PLUS APPLICABLE TAXES.
- (F) EXCEPT IN THE CASE OF PORTERCLASSIC "BASIC" FARE BOOKINGS. CANCELLATION MAY BE MADE UP TO (1) HOUR PRIOR TO SCHEDULED DEPARTURE. A CANCELLATION CHARGE IS PAYABLE BY THE TICKET HOLDER AND IS CHARGEABLE PER ONE-WAY TRAVEL, PER PERSON AND PER CHANGE. THERE WILL BE NO REFUND OF THE FARE, HOWEVER A CREDIT IN THE AMOUNT OF THE FARE (LESS THE APPLICABLE TICKET CHANGE CHARGE PLUS APPLICABLE TAXES) WILL BE AVAILABLE TO THE TICKET HOLDER FOR TRAVEL ON A FUTURE FLIGHT UP TO A PERIOD OF ONE (1) YEAR FROM THE DATE OF ORIGINAL TICKET ISSUANCE. WHEN REDEEMING THE CREDIT TOWARD A FUTURE BOOKING, PASSENGER MAY APPLY THE CREDIT TOWARD THE BASE FARE, AIRLINES SURCHARGES, CHANGE FEES, AND GOVERNMENT TAXES AND FEES. CREDIT CAN BE USED ONE TIME ONLY. IF THE TOTAL COST OF THE TRANSACTION TO WHICH THE CREDIT IS APPLIED IS LESS THAN THE VALUE OF THE CREDIT, THE RESIDUAL VALUE LEFT FROM ITS USE IS FORFEITED. BOOKING USING CREDIT MUST BE IN THE NAME OF THE OWNER OF THE CREDIT. CREDIT MAY BE TRANSFERRED TO ANOTHER TRAVELER ONE TIME ONLY, AND THE CREDIT'S ORIGINAL EXPIRATION DATE SHALL CONTINUE TO APPLY AFTER ANY SUCH TRANSFER.
- (G) SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS FOR CHANGES TO OR CANCELLATIONS OF TICKETS REFERRED TO ABOVE, SHOULD THE TICKET NOT BE USED BY THE TICKET HOLDER FOR THE FLIGHT IN QUESTION, THE COST OF THE TICKET WILL BE FORFEITED AND NO CREDIT WILL BE AVAILABLE TO THE TICKET HOLDER.
- (H) THE FARE FOR THE TICKET IS SUBJECT TO CHANGE PRIOR TO

COMMENCEMENT OF CARRIAGE. CARRIER MAY REFUSE TRANSPORTATION IF THE APPLICABLE CHANGE OF FARE HAS NOT BEEN PAID.

Rule 55 Confirmation of Reserved Space

(A) A RESERVATION OF SPACE ON A GIVEN FLIGHT IS VALID WHEN THE AVAILABILITY AND ALLOCATION OF SUCH SPACE IS CONFIRMED BY THE CARRIER TO A PERSON SUBJECT TO PAYMENT OR OTHER SATISFACTORY CREDIT ARRANGEMENTS. A PASSENGER WITH A VALID CONFIRMATION NUMBER REFLECTING RESERVATIONS FOR A SPECIFIC FLIGHT AND DATE ON THE CARRIER IS CONSIDERED CONFIRMED, UNLESS THE RESERVATION WAS CANCELLED DUE TO ONE OF THE REASONS INDICATED IN RULE 60. THE CARRIER DOES NOT GUARANTEE TO PROVIDE ANY PARTICULAR SEAT ON THE AIRCRAFT.

(B) SEAT SELECTION SUBJECT TO AVAILABILITY, PASSENGERS MAY SELECT THEIR SEATS IN ADVANCE FROM THE TIME OF BOOKING UNTIL COMMENCEMENT OF BOARDING, SUBJECT TO SEAT SELECTION FEES APPLICABLE TO CERTAIN FARE CATEGORIES, SEAT CLASSES, ROUTES AND LOYALTY TIERS, FROM \$10-\$70 USD/CAD PER PASSENGER PER SEGMENT, AS SET OUT IN THE APPLICABLE FARE RULE. SEAT SELECTIONS ARE NOT GUARANTEED (FOR EXAMPLE, A SEAT MAY BECOME UNSERVICEABLE; A SEAT MAY BECOME UNAVAILABLE DUE TO OPERATING LOAD OR WEIGHT AND BALANCING CONSIDERATIONS; OR THERE MAY BE CHANGE IN EQUIPMENT RENDERING THE PRE-SELECTED SEAT UNAVAILABLE). IF THE PASSENGER HAS PAID A FEE FOR ADVANCE SEAT SELECTION AND THE CARRIER CANNOT PROVIDE THE SEAT SELECTED BY THE PASSENGER. THAT CARRIER FEE WILL BE REFUNDED TO THE PASSENGER. CARRIER WILL NONETHELESS ATTEMPT TO ACCOMMODATE THE PASSENGER WITH A COMPARABLE SEAT.

Rule 60 Cancellation of Reservation

REFER TO RULE 10 (C) PASSENGER CANCELLATION, CHANGE AND REFUND TERMS FOR APPLICABLE TERMS AND CONDITIONS.

Rule 65 Flight Disruptions - Standards of Care, Compensation and Refunds

NOTE: AS STATED IN RULE 1, THE FOLLOWING TERMS, USED IN THIS RULE 15, HAVE THE FOLLOWING MEANINGS:

FLIGHT DISRUPTION MEANS A DELAY OR CANCELLATION OF THE CARRIER'S FLIGHT.

CONTROLLABLE MEANS CAUSED PRIMARILY BY FACTORS WITHIN THE CARRIER'S CONTROL, BUT EXCLUDES A FLIGHT DISRUPTION OR DENIED BOARDING WHICH IS CONTROLLABLE FOR SAFETY.

CONTROLLABLE FOR SAFETY MEANS CAUSED PRIMARILY BY FACTORS WITHIN THE CARRIER'S CONTROL BUT REQUIRED IN ORDER TO REDUCE RISK TO PASSENGER SAFETY.

UNCONTROLLABLE MEANS CAUSED PRIMARILY BY FACTORS OUTSIDE THE CARRIER'S CONTROL.8

(A) INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION

IN THE CASE OF A FLIGHT DISRUPTION OR A DENIED BOARDING, (EACH A "FLIGHT DISRUPTION")⁸, THE CARRIER WILL:

- (1) COMMUNICATE TO THE PASSENGER, USING THE PASSENGER'S SELECTED METHOD OF COMMUNICATION FROM THOSE MADE AVAILABLE BY THE CARRIER, THE REASON FOR THE FLIGHT DISRUPTION⁸ BASED ON THE INFORMATION AVAILABLE TO THE CARRIER AT THE TIME OF THE COMMUNICATION: AND
- COMMUNICATION; AND

 (2) IN THE CASE OF A DELAY, COMMUNICATE STATUS UPDATES
 TO PASSENGERS EVERY 30 MINUTES, OR UPON NEW
 INFORMATION BECOMING AVAILABLE IF FEASIBLE, UNTIL A
 NEW DEPARTURE TIME FOR THE FLIGHT IS SET OR
 ALTERNATE TRAVEL ARRANGEMENTS HAVE BEEN MADE FOR THE
 AFFECTED PASSENGER; AND

(B) STANDARD OF TREATMENT

IN THE CASE OF A CONTROLLABLE OR CONTROLLABLE FOR SAFETY FLIGHT DISRUPTION RESULTING IN A DELAY LASTING TWO HOURS OR MORE, THE CARRIER WILL PROVIDE:

- 1) FOOD AND DRINK IN REASONABLE QUANTITIES HAVING REGARD TO THE LENGTH OF THE WAIT, THE TIME OF DAY AND THE LOCATION OF THE PASSENGER, AND
- 2) ACCESS TO A MEANS OF COMMUNICATION;

PROVIDED THAT THIS SHALL NOT APPLY WHERE THE PASSENGER IS INFORMED OF THE FLIGHT DISRUPTION MORE THAN 12 HOURS BEFORE THEIR ORIGINAL SCHEDULED DEPARTURE; AND9

(C) ACCOMMODATIONS

IN THE CASE OF AN OVERNIGHT CONTROLLABLE OR CONTROLLABLE FOR SAFETY FLIGHT DISRUPTION, THE CARRIER WILL PROVIDE, IF NEEDED, HOTEL OR OTHER ACCOMMODATION THAT IS REASONABLE HAVING REGARD TO THE LOCATION OF THE PASSENGER, AS WELL AS TRANSPORTATION BETWEEN THE AIRPORT AND THE ACCOMMODATION, PROVIDED THAT THIS SHALL NOT APPLY WHERE THE PASSENGER IS INFORMED OF THE DELAY MORE THAN 12 HOURS BEFORE THEIR ORIGINAL SCHEDULED DEPARTURE; 9

(D) EXCEPTION

NOTWITHSTANDING SUB-RULES 65(B) AND (C) ABOVE, THE CARRIER MAY LIMIT OR DECLINE TO PROVIDE THE STANDARD OF TREATMENT DESCRIBED THEREIN IF IT WOULD FURTHER DELAY THE PASSENGER.⁹

- (E) ALTERNATE TRAVEL ARRANGEMENTS AND REFUNDS9
 - I. IN THE CASE OF A FLIGHT DISRUPTION WHICH IS CONTROLLABLE OR CONTROLLABLE FOR SAFETY RESULTING IN A DELAY OF THREE HOURS OR MORE, THE CARRIER WILL:
 - A. PROVIDE THE PASSENGER WITH A CONFIRMED SEAT ON THE NEXT AVAILABLE FLIGHT OPERATED BY THE CARRIER (OR BY A CARRIER WITH WHOM THE CARRIER HAS A COMMERCIAL AGREEMENT) AND IS TRAVELLING ON ANY REASONABLE AIR ROUTE FROM THE AIRPORT AT WHICH THE PASSENGER IS LOCATED TO THE DESTINATION THAT IS INDICATED ON THE PASSENGER'S ORIGINAL TICKET;

OR

B. IF THE PASSENGER IS NO LONGER AT THE POINT OF ORIGIN INDICATED ON THEIR TICKET AND ALTERNATE TRAVEL ARRANGEMENTS PROVIDED UNDER SUB-RULE A ABOVE DO NOT MEET THE PASSENGER'S TRAVEL NEEDS BECAUSE OF THE FLIGHT DISRUPTION, PROVIDE THE PASSENGER WITH A CONFIRMED SEAT ON THE NEXT AVAILABLE FLIGHT OPERATED BY THE CARRIER (OR BY A CARRIER WITH WHOM THE CARRIER HAS A COMMERCIAL AGREEMENT) TO THE PASSENGER'S POINT OF ORIGIN AND REFUND THE PASSENGER'S TICKET ON REQUEST,

OR

- C. IF THE ALTERNATE TRAVEL ARRANGEMENTS PROVIDED UNDER SUB-RULE A ABOVE DO NOT MEET THE PASSENGER'S TRAVEL NEEDS BECAUSE OF THE FLIGHT DISRUPTION AND SUB-RULE B ABOVE DOES NOT APPLY, REFUND THE UNUSED PORTION OF THE TICKET ON REQUEST.
- III. IN THE CASE OF A FLIGHT DISRUPTION RESULTING IN A DELAY OF THREE HOURS OR MORE WHICH IS UNCONTROLLABLE, THE CARRIER WILL PROVIDE THE PASSENGER WITH A CONFIRMED SEAT ON THE NEXT AVAILABLE FLIGHT OPERATED BY THE CARRIER (OR BY A CARRIER WITH WHOM THE CARRIER HAS A COMMERCIAL AGREEMENT, IF ANY) AND IS TRAVELLING ON ANY REASONABLE AIR ROUTE FROM THE AIRPORT AT WHICH

THE PASSENGER IS LOCATED TO THE DESTINATION THAT IS INDICATED ON THE PASSENGER'S ORIGINAL TICKET.:

IV. TO THE EXTENT POSSIBLE, THE ALTERNATE TRAVEL ARRANGEMENTS SHALL BE COMPARABLE TO THOSE OF THE ORIGINAL TICKET. IF THE ALTERNATE TRAVEL ARRANGEMENTS PROVIDE FOR A HIGHER CLASS OF SERVICE THAN THE ORIGINAL TICKET, NO SUPPLEMENTARY PAYMENT TO THE CARRIER SHALL BE REQUIRED. IF THE ALTERNATE TRAVEL ARRANGEMENTS PROVIDE FOR A LOWER CLASS OF SERVICE THAN THE ORIGINAL TICKET, THE CARRIER WILL REFUND THE DIFFERENCE IN THE COST OF THE APPLICABLE PORTION OF THE TICKET.

(F) COMPENSATION FOR CONTROLLABLE FLIGHT DISRUPTION

IN THE CASE OF A CONTROLLABLE FLIGHT DISRUPTION RESULTING IN A DELAY OF THREE HOURS OR MORE (INCLUDING A DELAY RESULTING FROM A CONTROLLABLE CANCELLATION, BUT EXCLUDING CONTROLLABLE FOR SAFETY DELAYS/CANCELLATIONS OR THOSE OF WHICH THE CARRIER INFORMS THE PASSENGER MORE THAN 14 DAYS BEFORE THEIR SCHEDULED DEPARTURE), THE CARRIER WILL PROVIDE THE PASSENGER WITH COMPENSATION IN THE AMOUNT OF:

- I. \$125 CAD IF THE ARRIVAL OF THE PASSENGER'S FLIGHT AT THE DESTINATION THAT IS INDICATED ON THE ORIGINAL TICKET IS DELAYED BY THREE HOURS OR MORE BUT LESS THAN SIX HOURS, OR IF THE PASSENGER ELECTS TO CANCEL THEIR TICKET FOR A REFUND PURSUANT TO SUB-RULE (E)(1)(C) ABOVE;
- II. \$250 CAD IF THE ARRIVAL OF THE PASSENGER'S FLIGHT AT THE DESTINATION THAT IS INDICATED ON THE ORIGINAL TICKET IS DELAYED BY SIX HOURS OR MORE BUT LESS THAN NINE HOURS; OR
- III. \$500 CAD IF THE ARRIVAL OF THE PASSENGER'S FLIGHT AT THE DESTINATION THAT IS INDICATED ON THE ORIGINAL TICKET IS DELAYED BY NINE HOURS OR MORE.\; OR

PROVIDED THAT (A) COMPENSATION SHALL NOT EXCEED \$125 FOR PASSENGERS WHO HAVE REQUESTED A REFUND OF THEIR TICKET UNDER SUB-RULE $65 \in (I)(C)$ ABOVE, AND (B) COMPENSATION WILL ONLY BE AVAILABLE TO ELIGIBLE PASSENGERS WHO FILE A REQUEST FOR COMPENSATION WITHIN ONE YEAR OF THE DATE ON WHICH THE DELAY OR CANCELLATION OCCURRED. THE CARRIER WILL EITHER PROVIDE THE COMPENSATION OR RESPOND WITH AN EXPLANATION AS TO WHY COMPENSATION IS NOT PAYABLE, WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THE PASSENGER'S REQUEST FOR COMPENSATION.

Rule 70 Application of Fares and Routings

- (A) GENERAL
 - THE PRICE OF TRANSPORTATION BETWEEN CANADA AND THE U.S.A. SHALL BE DISCLOSED AT THE TIME OF CONFIRMATION, HOWEVER FARES ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE WITHOUT NOTICE.
- (B) FARE CHANGES
 - THE CARRIER'S FARES ARE CHANGED FROM TIME TO TIME.
- (C) CONNECTING FLIGHTS
 WHEN AN AREA IS SERVED BY MORE THAN ONE AIRPORT AND A
 PASSENGER ARRIVES AT ONE AIRPORT AND DEPART FROM ANOTHER
 AIRPORT, TRANSPORTATION BETWEEN THOSE AIRPORTS MUST BE
 ARRANGED BY AND AT THE EXPENSE OF THE PASSENGER.
- (D) STOPOVER
 A STOPOVER MEANS A DELIBERATE INTERRUPTION OF A JOURNEY
 BY THE PASSENGER, AGREED TO IN ADVANCE BY THE CARRIER,
 AT A POINT BETWEEN THE PLACE OF DEPARTURE AND THE PLACE
 OF DESTINATION.
- (E) ROUTING
 - A FARE APPLIES ONLY TO:
 - (1) TRANSPORTATION VIA THE ROUTING SPECIFIED BY THE CARRIER IN REFERENCE TO THAT FARE. ANY OTHER ROUTING MAY SUBJECT THE PASSENGER TO AN ADDITIONAL CHARGE.
 - (2) TRANSPORTATION BETWEEN THE AIRPORTS. TICKETS MAY NOT BE ISSUED OR ACCEPTED FOR TRANSPORTATION THAT WILL EITHER ORIGINATE OR TERMINATE AT AN AIRPORT OTHER THAN THE AIRPORT FOR WHICH THE FARES ARE PUBLISHED.
- (F) INFANTS
 - ONE INFANT UNDER 2 YEARS OF AGE NOT OCCUPYING A SEAT AND ACCOMPANIED BY A PASSENGER AT LEAST 16 YEARS OF AGE WILL BE TRANSPORTED WITHOUT CHARGE. A BIRTH CERTIFICATE IS REQUIRED FOR ALL INFANT UNDER AGE 2.

Rule 75 Acceptance of Baggage and Cargota

ALL BAGGAGE OR CARGO PRESENTED FOR TRANSPORTATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO INSPECTION BY THE CARRIER AND/OR GOVERNMENT AUTHORITY OR AGENCY;

(A) BAGGAGE

APPLICABILITY: THIS SUB-RULE 75(A) APPLIES TO ALL FLIGHTS OPERATED BY THE CARRIER WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO THIS TARIFF, AND TO CERTAIN INTERLINE ITINERARIES AS SET FORTH IN RULE 75 (C) BELOW, AND SUBJECT TO THE EXCEPTIONS STATED THEREIN.

THE CARRIER WILL ACCEPT FOR TRANSPORTATION AS BAGGAGE SUCH PERSONAL PROPERTY AS IS NECESSARY FOR THE WEAR, USE, COMFORT OR CONVENIENCE OF THE PASSENGER FOR THE PURPOSES OF THE TRIP, SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS:

- (1) ALL BAGGAGE MUST BE SUITABLY EXTERNALLY IDENTIFIED AND PACKED IN SUITCASES OR IN SIMILAR CONTAINERS IN ORDER TO ENSURE SAFE AND CONVENIENT CARRIAGE WITH ORDINARY CARE AND HANDLING. FRAGILE OR PERISHABLE ARTICLES, MONEY, JEWELRY, SILVERWARE, NEGOTIABLE PAPERS, SECURITIES OR OTHER VALUABLES, SAMPLES OF BUSINESS DOCUMENTS SHALL NOT BE ACCEPTED AS CHECKED BAGGAGE. THE CARRIER SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR LOSS, DAMAGE OR DELAY IN THE DELIVERY OF SUCH ARTICLES WHEN THEY ARE INCLUDED IN THE CHECKED BAGGAGE.
- (2) ON ALL FLIGHTS BETWEEN CANADA AND THE UNITED STATES, THE CARRIER'S ACCEPTANCE OF CHECKED BAGGAGE IS SUBJECT TO SPACE AND WEIGHT AVAILABILITY AS WELL AS APPLICABLE FEES FROM \$27.50-\$126.50 CAD/USD FOR FIRST BAG, \$50-\$258.75 CAD/USD FOR SECOND BAGS, AND \$100-\$258.75 FOR SUBSEQUENT BAGS DEPENDING ON THE PASSENGER'S FARE CLASS, ORIGIN AND DESTINATION, AND WHETHER THE PASSENGER PAYS THE FEE IN ADVANCE OR AT THE AIRPORT, AS SET OUT IN THE APPLICABLE FARE RULE.
- . BAGGAGE FEES ARE PAYABLE IN CAD/USD, BASED ON ORIGINATING AIRPORT
- . EACH BAG WEIGHING BETWEEN 23 KG (50 LB) AND 32 KG (70 LB) IS CONSIDERED 'OVERWEIGHT' AND WILL BE CHARGED A FEE OF \$100-\$115 CAD/USD.
- . ANY SINGLE PIECE MEASURING MORE THAN 158 CM (62 IN) TOTAL DIMENSION (THE SUM OF THE LENGTH, WIDTH AND HEIGHT) IS CONSIDERED OVERSIZED AND WILL BE CHARGED \$100 CAD/USD PER DIRECTION.
- . NO SINGLE PIECE OF BAGGAGE CAN EXCEED 203 CM (80 IN) TOTAL DIMENSION.

[†] Tracked changes applicable to/from Canada and annotated throughout the entirety of Rule 75 are effective June 05, 2024, pursuant to Order No. 2021-A-3 of the CTA.

^a Tracked changes applicable to/from the United States and annotated throughout the entirety of Rule 75 are effective June 05, 2024, pursuant to Docket OST-97-2050 of the DOT.

- . IF A BAG IS BOTH OVERWEIGHT AND OVERSIZED, THE \$100-\$115 USD/CAD FEE IS CHARGED ONLY ONCE.
- . STROLLERS AND CHILD CAR SEATS WILL BE CARRIED FREE OF CHARGE FOR PASSENGERS TRAVELLING WITH CHILDREN.
- (3) ALL PORTERRESERVE NAVIGATE/ULTIMATE AND PORTERCLASSIC FLEXIBLE/FREEDOM PASSENGERS (EXCLUDING INFANTS) AND PORTERCLASSIC STANDARD PASSENGERS ON TRANSATLANTIC ITINERARIES MAY ALSO CARRY ONBOARD AT NO ADDITIONAL CHARGE ONE STANDARD ARTICLE WITH MAXIMUM DIMENSIONS OF 23 X 40 X 55 CM (9 X 15.5 X 21.5IN) AND ONE BUSINESS ARTICLE WITH MAXIMUM DIMENSIONS OF 16 X 33 X 43 CM (6 X 13 X 17 IN) EACH WEIGHING NO MORE THAN 9 KG (20 LBS).

 PORTERCLASSIC BASIC FARE PASSENGERS (EXCLUDING INFANTS) MAY CARRY ONBOARD AT NO ADDITIONAL CHARGE ONE PERSONAL ARTICLE WITH MAXIMUM DIMENSIONS 16 X 33 X 43 CM (6 X 13 X 17 IN.). EACH WEIGHING NO
 - MORE THAN 9 KG (20 LBS.). THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE NOT COUNTED AS CARRY-ON; COATS, RECEPTACLES CONTAINING HUMAN REMAINS, STROLLERS, CHILD RESTRAINT SYSTEMS, CONTAINERS CARRYING LIFE-SUSTAINING ITEMS, CRUTCHES, CANES, WALKERS AND OTHER SIMILAR ITEMS.
- (4) ARTICLES OF BAGGAGE OR GOODS WILL NOT BE CARRIED WHEN SUCH ARTICLES ARE LIKELY TO ENDANGER THE AIRCRAFT, PERSONS OR PROPERTY ARE LIKELY TO BE DAMAGED BY AIR CARRIAGE, ARE UNSUITABLY PACKED, OR THE CARRIAGE OF WHICH WOULD VIOLATE THE LAWS, REGULATIONS, OR ORDERS OF COUNTRIES OR POSSESSION TO BE FLOWN FROM, INTO, OR OVER.
- (5) IF THE WEIGHT, SIZE OR CHARACTER RENDERS IT UNSUITABLE FOR CARRIAGE ON THE AIRCRAFT, THE CARRIER, PRIOR TO DEPARTURE OF THE FLIGHT, WILL REFUSE TO CARRY THE PASSENGER'S BAGGAGE OR GOODS OR ANY PART THEREOF. THE FOLLOWING ARTICLES WILL BE CARRIED ONLY WITH PRIOR CONSENT OF THE CARRIER: FIREARMS OF ANY DESCRIPTION FIREARMS FOR SPORT PURPOSES WILL BE CARRIED AS CHECKED BAGGAGE PROVIDED REQUIRED ENTRY PERMITS ARE IN THE POSSESSION OF THE PASSENGER FOR THE COUNTRY OF DESTINATION AND PROVIDED THAT SUCH FIREARMS ARE DISASSEMBLED OR PACKED IN A SUITABLE LOCKED CASE. THE PROVISIONS OF THIS PARAGRAPH DO NOT APPLY TO OFFICERS OF THE LAW TRAVELING IN THE LINE OF DUTY AND CARRYING LEGALLY PRESCRIBED SIDEARMS OR OTHER SIMILAR WEAPONS.
- (6) THE CARRIER WILL ACCEPT WHEELCHAIRS, WALKERS, MOTORIZED SCOOTERS (AS LONG AS NON WET CELL BATTERY-POWERED) AND MOBILITY EQUIPMENT AT NO ADDITIONAL CHARGE. DRY AND GEL CELL BATTERIES WILL BE ACCEPTED PROVIDING THEY ARE SECURED IN AN APPROVED BATTERY CONTAINER. THE CARRIER WILL NOT ACCEPT WET CELL BATTERIES FOR SAFETY REASONS.
- (7) WITH THE EXCEPTION OF SERVICE ANIMALS AND PETS, LIVE ANIMALS ARE NOT ACCEPTED ON FLIGHTS EXCEPT IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 45 OF THIS TARIFF.
- (8) DANGEROUS GOODS AS DEFINED BY TRANSPORT CANADA ARE NOT ACCEPTED FOR CARRIAGE UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES.

DANGEROUS GOODS INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO, FLAMMABLE GASSES, LIQUIDS AND SOLID MATERIAL, COMPRESSED GASSES, EXPLOSIVES, POISON, CORROSIVES, OXIDIZING AGENTS, RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL, ETIOLOGIC AGENTS AND MAGNETIZED MATERIAL. MEDICAL OXYGEN WILL NOT BE ALLOWED ON BOARD THE AIRCRAFT.

(B) CARGO

CARRIER'S ACCEPTANCE OF ANY CARGO ONBOARD ANY FLIGHT, SHALL BE SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS:

- (1) THE CARRIER SHALL HAVE THE RIGHT, BUT NOT THE OBLIGATION, TO MAKE SUCH INSPECTIONS OF CARGO AS IT DEEMS NECESSARY OR APPROPRIATE, WITH OR WITHOUT THE SHIPPER'S CONSENT OR KNOWLEDGE. THE EXISTENCE OR EXERCISE OF SUCH RIGHT SHALL NOT BE CONSTRUED AS AN AGREEMENT, EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED BY THE CARRIER TO CARRY SUCH CARGO AS WOULD OTHERWISE BE PRECLUDED FROM CARRIAGE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THIS TARIFF.
- (2) THE CARRIER SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY DAMAGE TO ANY CARGO RESULTING FROM EXPOSURE TO ELECTRO-MAGNETIC X-RAY OR FLUOROSCOPIC METAL OR OTHER DETECTING DEVICES AS A RESULT OF ANY INSPECTIONS.
- (3) ALL CARGO PRESENTED FOR CARRIAGE SHALL BE CRATED OR OTHERWISE SUITABLY ENCLOSED AND BE OF WEIGHT, SIZE AND CHARACTER THAT IS SUITABLE FOR CARRIAGE ON THE AIRCRAFT.
- (4) PERISHABLE GOODS SHALL BE PROPERLY PACKED BY THE SHIPPER TO PREVENT DAMAGE OR DETERIORATION IN FLIGHT. THE CARRIER SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY LOSS, DAMAGE, DETERIORATION OR DESTRUCTION OF PERISHABLE GOODS REGARDLESS OF ITS CAUSE, INCLUDING LOSS, DAMAGE, DETERIORATION OR DESTRUCTION RESULTING FROM DELAY IN DEPARTURE OR EN ROUTE.
- (5) NON-ACCEPTANCE BY CONSIGNEE WHERE ANY GOODS ARE REFUSED BY THE CONSIGNEE OR EFFECTIVE ARRANGEMENTS HAVE NOT BEEN MADE BY THE SHOPPER FOR THE CONSIGNEE TO ACCEPT GOODS AT THE DESTINATION, OR WHERE INSTRUCTIONS FOR DISPOSAL CANNOT BE OBTAINED FROM THE SHIPPER OR CONSIGNEE, OR WHERE THERE IS DANGER THAT THE GOODS SHALL BECOME WORTHLESS BECAUSE OF DELAY IN TRANSIT OR DELIVERY OR NON-DELIVERY, THE CARRIER SHALL, WITHOUT PRIOR NOTICE, DISPOSE OF THE GOODS UPON SUCH ITEMS AS SHALL APPEAR FIT AND PROPER TO THE CARRIER FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL COSTS OF DISPOSAL, DELIVERY OR STORAGE THEREOF.
- (6) REFUSAL OF CARRIAGE THE CARRIER SHALL REFUSE TO CARRY OR SHALL REMOVE EN ROUTE ANY CARGO WHEN:
 (A) SUCH CARGO:
 - . WILL ENDANGER THE SAFETY OF THE AIRCRAFT, CREW, OTHER CARGO, PASSENGERS OR BAGGAGE;
 - IS SHIPPED CONTRARY TO ANY APPLICABLE LAWS, REGULATIONS OR ORDER OF ANY PLACE TO BE FLOWN FROM, INTO OR OVER;
 - . IS LIABLE TO CAUSE DAMAGE TO THE AIRCRAFT OR TO BAGGAGE OR OTHER CARGO, OR INJURY TO PERSONS ONBOARD THE AIRCRAFT;
 - . IS LIKELY TO BE DAMAGED BY THE AIR CARRIAGE;
 - . IS IMPROPERLY PACKED OR OTHERWISE DEFECTIVE.
 - (B) THE WEIGHT, SIZE OR CHARACTER OF THE CARGO IS

UNSUITABLE FOR CARRIAGE ON THE AIRCRAFT.

(7) MUSICAL INSTRUMENTS - ON FLIGHTS OPERATED BY THE CARRIER, MUSICAL INSTRUMENTS WILL BE ACCEPTED FOR TRANSPORTATION AS BAGGAGEPROVIDED SUCH INSTRUMENTS MEET THE SIZE, WEIGHT AND OTHER REQUIREMENTS APPLICABLE TO CHECKED OR CARRY-ON BAGGAGE, AS THE CASE MAY BE, PROVIDED THAT THE CARRIER MAY PERMIT CARRIAGE OF MUSICAL INSTRUMENTS EXCEEDING OTHERWISE APPLICABLE SIZE AND WEIGHT RESTRICTIONS AT THE SOLE DISCRETION OF THE FLIGHT CREW, HAVING REGARD TO SIZE, WEIGHT AND OTHER OPERATIONAL RESTRICTIONS. ON FLIGHTS OPERATED BY OUR CODESHARE OR INTERLINE PARTNERS, PASSENGERS ARE ENCOURAGED TO FAMILIARIZE THEMSELVES WITH THOSE CARRIERS' POLICIES APPLICABLE

TO CARRIAGE OF MUSICAL INSTRUMENTS. DEFINITIONS

"AIRLINE DESIGNATOR CODE" MEANS AN IDENTIFICATION CODE COMPRISED OF TWO-CHARACTERS WHICH IS USED FOR COMMERCIAL AND TRAFFIC PURPOSES SUCH AS RESERVATIONS, SCHEDULES, TIMETABLES, TICKETING, TARIFFS AND AIRPORT DISPLAY SYSTEMS. AIRLINE DESIGNATORS ARE ASSIGNED BY IATA. WHEN THIS CODE APPEARS ON A TICKET, IT REFLECTS THE CARRIER THAT IS MARKETING THE FLIGHT, WHICH MIGHT BE DIFFERENT FROM THE CARRIER OPERATING THE FLIGHT. "BAGGAGE RULES" MEANS THE CONDITIONS ASSOCIATED WITH THE ACCEPTANCE OF BAGGAGE, SERVICES INCIDENTAL TO THE TRANSPORTATION OF BAGGAGE, ALLOWANCES AND ALL RELATED CHARGES.

CARRIER DEFINITIONS (VARIOUS)

"DOWN LINE CARRIER " MEANS ANY CARRIER, OTHER THAN THE SELECTING CARRIER, WHO IS IDENTIFIED AS PROVIDING INTERLINE TRANSPORTATION TO THE PASSENGER BY VIRTUE OF THE PASSENGER'S TICKET.

"INTERLINE AGREEMENT" MEANS AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN TWO OR MORE CARRIERS TO CO-ORDINATE THE TRANSPORTATION OF PASSENGERS AND THEIR BAGGAGE FROM THE FLIGHT OF ONE AIR CARRIER TO THE FLIGHT OF ANOTHER AIR CARRIER (THROUGH TO THE NEXT POINT OF STOPOVER).

TO THE NEXT POINT OF STOPOVER).
"INTERLINE ITINERARY" MEANS ALL FLIGHTS REFLECTED ON A SINGLE TICKET INVOLVING MULTIPLE AIR CARRIERS, THE ORIGIN OR ULTIMATE TICKETED DESTINATION OF WHICH IS A POINT IN CANADA. ONLY TRAVEL ON A SINGLE TICKET IS SUBJECT TO THIS RULE PROVIDED THE ORIGIN OR THE ULTIMATE TICKETED DESTINATION IS A POINT IN CANADA, AND INCLUDES CODESHARE ITINERARIES..

"INTERLINE TRAVEL" MEANS TRAVEL INVOLVING MULTIPLE AIR CARRIERS LISTED ON A SINGLE TICKET THAT IS PURCHASED VIA A SINGLE TRANSACTION.

"MARKETING CARRIER" MEANS THE CARRIER THAT SELLS A FLIGHT UNDER ITS CODE.

"MOST SIGNIFICANT CARRIER (MSC)" IS DETERMINED BY A METHODOLOGY, ESTABLISHED BY IATA (RESOLUTION 302), WHICH ESTABLISHES, FOR EACH PORTION OF A PASSENGER'S ITINERARY WHERE BAGGAGE IS CHECKED THROUGH TO A NEW STOPOVER POINT, WHICH CARRIER WILL BE PERFORMING THE MOST SIGNIFICANT PART OF THE SERVICE. FOR TRAVELERS UNDER THE RESOLUTION 302 SYSTEM, THE BAGGAGE RULES OF

> THE MSC WILL APPLY. FOR COMPLEX ITINERARIES INVOLVING MULTIPLE CHECKED BAGGAGE POINTS, THERE MAY BE MORE THAN ONE MSC, RESULTING IN THE APPLICATION OF DIFFERING BAGGAGE RULES THROUGH AN ITINERARY. "MOST SIGNIFICANT CARRIER (MSC) - IATA RESOLUTION 302 AS CONDITIONED BY THE AGENCY" MEANS, IN THIS INSTANCE, THE MSC IS DETERMINED BY APPLYING IATA RESOLUTION 302 METHODOLOGY AS CONDITIONED BY THE AGENCY. THE AGENCY'S RESERVATION HAS STIPULATED THAT ONLY A SINGLE SET OF BAGGAGE RULES MAY APPLY TO ANY GIVEN INTERLINE ITINERARY. THE AIM OF THE AGENCY'S RESERVATION IS TO ALLOW THE SELECTING CARRIER TO USE MSC METHODOLOGY TO DETERMINE WHICH CARRIER'S BAGGAGE RULES APPLY TO AN INTERNATIONAL INTERLINE ITINERARY TO OR FROM CANADA, WHILE REINFORCING THE ROLE OF TARIFFS IN THE DETERMINATION OF WHICH CARRIER'S RULES APPLY. "PARTICIPATING CARRIER(S)" INCLUDES BOTH THE SELECTING CARRIER AND DOWN LINE CARRIERS WHO HAVE BEEN IDENTIFIED AS PROVIDING INTERLINE TRANSPORTATION TO THE PASSENGER BY VIRTUE OF THE PASSENGER'S TICKET. "SELECTED CARRIER" MEANS THE CARRIER WHOSE BAGGAGE RULES APPLY TO THE ENTIRE INTERLINE ITINERARY. 'SELECTING CARRIER" MEANS THE CARRIER WHOSE DESIGNATOR CODE IS IDENTIFIED ON THE FIRST FLIGHT SEGMENT OF THE PASSENGER'S TICKET AT THE BEGINNING OF AN INTERLINE ITINERARY ISSUED ON A SINGLE TICKET WHOSE ORIGIN OR ULTIMATE DESTINATION IS IN CANADA. "SINGLE TICKET" MEANS A DOCUMENT THAT PERMITS TRAVEL FROM ORIGIN TO DESTINATION. IT MAY INCLUDE INTERLINE/CODE-SHARE AND INTRA-LINE SEGMENTS. ALSO INCLUDE END-TO-END COMBINATIONS (I.E., STAND ALONE FARES THAT CAN BE BOUGHT SEPARATELY BUT COMBINED TOGETHER TO FORM ONE PRICE). "SUMMARY PAGE AT THE END OF AN ONLINE PURCHASE" MEANS A PAGE ON A CARRIER'S WEB SITE WHICH SUMMARIZES THE DETAILS OF A TICKET PURCHASE TRANSACTION AFTER THE PASSENGER HAS AGREED TO PURCHASE THE TICKET FROM THE CARRIER AND HAS PROVIDED A FORM OF PAYMENT. "ULTIMATE TICKETED DESTINATION" IN SITUATIONS WHERE A PASSENGER'S ORIGIN IS A NON-CANADIAN POINT AND THE ITINERARY INCLUDES AT LEAST ONE STOP IN CANADA, AS WELL AS AT LEAST ONE STOP OUTSIDE OF CANADA, IF THE STOP IN CANADA IS THE FARTHEST CHECKED POINT AND THE STOP IS MORE THAN 24 HOURS, THE ULTIMATE TICKETED DESTINATION IS CONSIDERED TO BE CANADA.

(1)**APPLICABILITY**

THIS RULE IS APPLICABLE TO ALL INTERLINE ITINERARIES ISSUED BY THE CARRIER ON A SINGLE TICKET ON OR AFTER APRIL 4, 2015 WHOSE ORIGIN OR ULTIMATE TICKETED DESTINATION IS IN CANADA.

(2) **GENERAL**

FOR THE PURPOSES OF INTERLINE BAGGAGE ACCEPTANCE:

- THE CARRIER WHOSE DESIGNATOR CODE IS (A) IDENTIFIED ON THE FIRST SEGMENT OF THE PASSENGER'S INTERLINE TICKET WILL BE KNOWN AS THE SELECTING CARRIER.
- (B) ANY CARRIER WHO IS IDENTIFIED AS PROVIDING INTERLINE TRANSPORTATION TO THE PASSENGER BY

VIRTUE OF THE PASSENGER'S TICKET WILL BE KNOWN AS A PARTICIPATING CARRIER.

- (3) BAGGAGE RULE DETERMINATION BY THE CARRIER CHECKED BAGGAGE: THE SELECTING CARRIER WILL:
 - CHECKED BAGGAGE: THE SELECTING CARRIER WILL:
 (A) SELECT AND APPLY ITS OWN BAGGAGE RULES AS SET
 OUT IN ITS TARIFF TO THE ENTIRE INTERLINE
 ITINERARY; OR
 - (B) SELECT THE MOST SIGNIFICANT CARRIER, AS DETERMINED BY IATA RESOLUTION 302 AND CONDITIONED BY THE CANADIAN TRANSPORTATION AGENCY, IN ORDER FOR THAT CARRIER'S BAGGAGE RULES, AS ESTABLISHED IN ITS TARIFF, TO APPLY TO THE ENTIRE INTERLINE ITINERARY. THE CARRIER IDENTIFIED BY MEANS OF (A) OR (B) WILL BE KNOWN AS THE SELECTED CARRIER.

CARRY-ON BAGGAGE: EACH OPERATING CARRIER'S CARRY-ON BAGGAGE ALLOWANCES (AS TO NUMBER, SIZE AND WEIGHT OF CARRY-ON ARTICLES) WILL APPLY TO EACH FLIGHT SEGMENT OPERATED BY THAT PARTICIPATING CARRIER IN AN INTERLINE ITINERARY. NOTWITHSTANDING, THE CARRY-ON BAGGAGE CHARGES THAT WILL APPLY TO THE INTERLINE INTERLINE ITINERARY WILL BE THOSE OF THE SELECTED CARRIER.

- (4) BAGGAGE RULE APPLICATION BY PARTICIPATING CARRIER WHERE THE CARRIER IS NOT THE SELECTED CARRIER BUT IS A PARTICIPATING CARRIER THAT IS PROVIDING TRANSPORTATION TO THE PASSENGER BASED ON THE TICKET ISSUED, THE CARRIER WILL APPLY AS ITS OWN THE BAGGAGE RULES OF THE SELECTED CARRIER THROUGHOUT THE INTERLINE ITINERARY.
- (5) DISCLOSURE OF BAGGAGE RULES SUMMARY PAGE FOLLOWING AN ONLINE PURCHASE AND E-TICKET DISCLOSURE:
 - (A) FOR BAGGAGE RULES PROVISIONS RELATING TO A PASSENGER'S 1ST AND 2ND CHECKED BAG AND THE PASSENGER'S CARRY-ON BAGGAGE (I.E. THE PASSENGER'S "STANDARD" BAGGAGE ALLOWANCE), WHEN THE CARRIER SELLS AND ISSUES A TICKET FOR AN INTERLINE ITINERARY, IT WILL DISCLOSE TO THE PASSENGER ON ANY SUMMARY PAGE AT THE END OF AN ONLINE PURCHASE AND ON THE PASSENGER'S ITINERARY/RECEIPT AND E-TICKET AT THE TIME OF TICKETING THE BAGGAGE INFORMATION RELEVANT TO THE PASSENGER ITINERARY, AS SET OUT IN PARAGRAPH (B) BELOW. THE DISCLOSED INFORMATION WILL REFLECT THE BAGGAGE RULES OF THE SELECTED CARRIER.
 - (B) THE CARRIER WILL DISCLOSE THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION:
 - . NAME OF THE CARRIER WHOSE BAGGAGE RULES APPLY.
 - . PASSENGER'S FREE BAGGAGE ALLOWANCE AND/OR APPLICABLE FEES
 - . SIZE AND WEIGHT LIMITS OF THE BAGS, IF APPLICABLE;
 - . TERMS OR CONDITIONS THAT WOULD ALTER OR IMPACT A PASSENGER'S STANDARD BAGGAGE ALLOWANCES AND CHARGES (E.G. FREQUENT

> FLYER STATUS, EARLY CHECK-IN, PRE-PURCHASING BAGGAGE ALLOWANCES WITH A PARTICULAR CREDIT CARD);

- EXISTENCE OF ANY EMBARGOES THAT MAY BE APPLICABLE TO THE PASSENGER'S ITINERARY; AND
- APPLICATION OF BAGGAGE ALLOWANCES AND CHARGES (I.E WHETHER THEY ARE APPLIED ONCE PER DIRECTION OR IF THEY ARE APPLICABLE AT EACH STOPOVER POINT).
- (C) THE CARRIER WILL PROVIDE THIS INFORMATION IN TEXT FORMAT ON THE PASSENGER'S E-TICKET CONFIRMATION. ANY FEE INFORMATION PROVIDED FOR CARRY-ON BAGS AND THE FIRST AND SECOND CHECKED BAG WILL BE EXPRESSED AS SPECIFIC CHARGES (I.E. NOT A RANGE).
- (6) WEB SITE DISCLOSURE
 THE CARRIER WILL DISCLOSE ON ITS WEB SITE, IN A
 CONVENIENT AND PROMINENT LOCATION, A COMPLETE AND
 COMPREHENSIVE SUMMARY OF ALL THE CARRIER'S OWN
 BAGGAGE RULES.

Rule 80 Responsibility For Schedules and Operations

- (A) THE CARRIER WILL ENDEAVOR TO TRANSPORT THE PASSENGER AND BAGGAGE WITH REASONABLE DISPATCH, BUT TIMES SHOWN IN TIMETABLES OR ELSEWHERE ARE NOT GUARANTEED.
- (B) THE AGREED STOPPING PLACES ARE THOSE PLACES SHOWN IN THE CARRIER'S TIMETABLE AS SCHEDULED STOPPING PLACES ON THE ROUTE. THE CARRIER MAY, WITHOUT NOTICE AND AT ITS SOLE AND ABSOLUTE DISCRETION, SUBSTITUTE ALTERNATE CARRIERS, SUB-CONTRACT THE OPERATION OF THE FLIGHT TO ANOTHER CARRIER, CHANGE AIRCRAFT, ALTER THE ROUTE, ADD STOPOVERS, AND/OR OMIT THE STOPPING PLACES SHOWN ON THE FACE OF THE TICKET. THE CARRIER MAY PERMIT OTHER CARRIERS, INCLUDING AFFILIATED AND NON-AFFILIATED CARRIERS TO USE THE CARRIER'S AIRLINE DESIGNATOR CODE. THE CARRIER WILL MAKE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO INFORM PASSENGERS OF ANY OF THE ABOVE CHANGES, AND TO THE EXTENT POSSIBLE, THE REASON FOR THEM, SAVE AND EXCEPT FOR ANY CHANGES WHICH DO NOT AFFECT THE NATURE OF THE PRODUCT OR SERVICE BEING DELIVERED TO THE PASSENGER. (C) PASSENGERS HAVE A RIGHT TO INFORMATION ON

FLIGHTS TIMES

AND SCHEDULE CHANGES. IN THE EVENT OF A DELAY OR
SCHEDULE CHANGE, THE CARRIER WILL MAKE REASONABLE
EFFORTS TO INFORM THE PASSENGERS OF DELAYS AND SCHEDULE
CHANGES, AND, TO THE EXTENT POSSIBLE, THE REASONS FOR
THEM, INCLUDING THAT THE CARRIER WILL UNDERTAKE TO
INFORM PASSENGERS OF ADVANCEMENTS OF SCHEDULED FLIGHT
DEPARTURES.

- (D) IF A DELAY OCCURS AFTER PASSENGERS HAVE BOARDED THE AIRCRAFT, THE CARRIER WILL OFFER DRINKS AND SNACKS IF IT IS SAFE, PRACTICAL AND TIMELY TO DO SO. IF THE DELAY EXCEEDS 90 MINUTES AND CIRCUMSTANCES PERMIT, THE CARRIER WILL OFFER PASSENGERS THE OPTION OF DISEMBARKING FROM THE AIRCRAFT UNTIL IT IS TIME TO DEPART.
- (E) THE CARRIER WILL NOT GUARANTEE AND WILL NOT BE HELD LIABLE FOR CANCELLATIONS OR CHANGES TO FLIGHT TIMES THAT APPEAR ON PASSENGERS' TICKETS DUE TO FORCE MAJEURE, INCLUDING LABOR DISRUPTIONS OR STRIKES. IF APPLICABLE, A PASSENGER MAY INVOKE THE PROVISIONS OF APPR OR OF THE APPLICABLE CONVENTION REGARDING LIABILITY IN THE CASE OF DELAY.
- (F) PASSENGER EXPENSES RESULTING FROM DELAYS AND FLIGHTS ADVANCEMENTS
 FOR THE PURPOSES OF (E), "FLIGHT ADVANCEMENT" SHALL MEAN AN ADVANCEMENT OF THE SCHEDULED FLIGHT DEPARTURE BY MORE THAN THE MINIMUM PERIOD FOR THE PASSENGER TO CHECK IN PURSUANT TO RULE 95 OF THIS TARIFF.
 PASSENGERS WILL BE ENTITLED TO REIMBURSEMENT FROM THE CARRIER FOR REASONABLE EXPENSES INCURRED AS A RESULT OF A DELAY OR A FLIGHT ADVANCEMENT, SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS:
 - (1) THE CARRIER SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY DAMAGES, COSTS, LOSSES OR EXPENSES OCCASIONED BY DELAYS OR

FLIGHT ADVANCEMENTS IF IT, AND ITS EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS, TOOK ALL MEASURES THAT COULD REASONABLY BE REQUIRED TO AVOID THE DAMAGE OR IF IT WAS IMPOSSIBLE FOR THE CARRIER AND ITS EMPLOYEES OR AGENTS TO TAKE SUCH MEASURES;

- (2) ANY PASSENGER SEEKING REIMBURSEMENT FOR EXPENSES RESULTING FROM DELAYS OR FLIGHT ADVANCEMENT MUST PROVIDE THE CARRIER WITH (A) WRITTEN NOTICE OF HIS OR HER CLAIM, (B) PARTICULARS OF THE EXPENSES FOR WHICH REIMBURSEMENT IS SOUGHT AND (C) RECEIPTS OR OTHER DOCUMENTS ESTABLISHING TO THE REASONABLE SATISFACTION OF THE CARRIER THAT THE EXPENSES WERE INCURRED; AND
- (3) THE CARRIER MAY REFUSE OR DECLINE ANY CLAIM, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, IF:
 - (A) THE PASSENGER HAS FAILED OR DECLINED TO PROVIDE PROOF OR PARTICULARS ESTABLISHING, TO THE REASONABLE SATISFACTION OF THE CARRIER, THAT THE EXPENSES CLAIMED WERE INCURRED BY THE PASSENGER AND RESULTED FROM A DELAY OR FLIGHT ADVANCEMENT FOR WHICH COMPENSATION IS AVAILABLE UNDER RULE 80. OR
 - (B) THÉ EXPENSES FOR WHICH REIMBURSEMENT IS CLAIMED, OR ANY PORTION THEREOF, ARE NOT REASONABLE OR DID NOT RESULT FROM THE DELAY OR FLIGHT ADVANCEMENT, AS DETERMINED BY THE CARRIER, ACTING REASONABLY.
- (4) IN ANY CASE, THE CARRIER MAY, IN ITS SOLE DISCRETION, ISSUE MEAL, HOTEL AND/OR GROUND TRANSPORTATION VOUCHERS TO PASSENGERS AFFECTED BY A DELAY OR A FLIGHT ADVANCEMENT.
- (5) TARMAC DELAYS
 - IN THE EVENT THAT A FLIGHT OPERATED BY THE CARRIER IS DELAYED ON THE TARMAC BETWEEN THE CLOSING OF THE AIRCRAFT DOORS AND TAKEOFF IN THE CASE OF A DEPARTING FLIGHT, OR AFTER LANDING IN THE CASE OF AN ARRIVING FLIGHT, THE CARRIER WILL:
 - (A) PROVIDE ACCESS TO LAVATORIES IN WORKING ORDER;
 - (B) KEEP THE PROPERLY VENTILATE AND COOL OR HEAT THE AIRCRAFT CABIN;
 - (C) PROVIDE ACCESS TO COMMUNICATION WITH PERSONS OUTSIDE THE AIRCRAFT;
 - (D) FOOD AND DRINK IN REASONABLE QUANTITIES, HAVING REGARD TO THE LENGTH OF THE DELAY, THE TIME OF DAY AND THE LOCATION OF THE AIRPORT;
 - (E) FACILITATE ACCESS TO URGENT MEDICAL CARE IF NEEDED; AND
 - (F) WHERE THE TARMAC DELAY OCCURS AT AN AIRPORT IN CANADA AND TO THE EXTENT POSSIBLE, PROVIDE PASSENGERS WITH AN OPPORTUNITY TO DISEMBARK FROM THE AIRCRAFT NO LATER THAN THREE HOURS AFTER THE START OF THE TARMAC DELAY (PROVIDING PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES AND SERVICE ANIMALS THE OPPORTUNITY TO DISEMBARK FIRST WHEN FEASIBLE), EXCEPT:
 - (I) IN THE CASE OF A DEPARTING FLIGHT, WHEN IT IS LIKELY THE AIRCRAFT WILL TAKE OFF WITHIN THREE HOURS AND 45 MINUTES IF THE CLOSURE OF

THE AIRCRAFT DOORS, AND
(II) IN THE CASE OF AN ARRIVING FLIGHT, IF THE

CARRIER HAS PROVIDED THE AMENITIES LISTED ABOVE IN THE SECTION.

IN THE EVENT THAT A FLIGHT OPERATED BY ANOTHER CARRIER IS DELAYED ON THE TARMAC - EG IN AN INTERLINE OR CODESHARE ITINERARY - THE TARMAC DELAY PROCEDURES OF THAT OPERATING CARRIER SHALL APPLY.

(G) BAGGAGE DELAYS

- (1) THE CARRIER CANNOT GUARANTEE THAT THE PASSENGER'S BAGGAGE WILL BE CARRIED ON THE FLIGHT IF SUFFICIENT SPACE IS NOT AVAILABLE AS DETERMINED BY THE CARRIER.
- (2) NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, PASSENGERS WHOSE BAGGAGE DOES NOT ARRIVE ON THE SAME FLIGHT AS THE PASSENGER WILL BE ENTITLED TO REIMBURSEMENT FROM THE CARRIER FOR REASONABLE EXPENSES INCURRED AS A RESULT OF THE BAGGAGE DELAY, SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS:
 - (A) THE CARRIER SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY DAMAGES, COSTS, LOSSES OR EXPENSES OCCASIONED BY DELAYS IN THE DELIVERY OF BAGGAGE IF THE CARRIER, AND ITS EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS, TOOK ALL MEASURES THAT COULD REASONABLY BE REQUIRED TO AVOID THE DAMAGE OR IT IS WAS IMPOSSIBLE FOR THE CARRIER AND ITS EMPLOYEES OR AGENTS TO TAKE SUCH MEASURES;
 - (B) THE PASSENGER MUST HAVE COMPLIED WITH THE CHECK-IN REQUIREMENTS SET OUT IN RULE 95 OF THIS TARIFF;
 - (C) IN ORDER TO ASSIST THE CARRIER IN COMMENCING THE TRACING OF THE BAGGAGE IN QUESTION, THE PASSENGER IS ENCOURAGED TO REPORT THE DELAYED BAGGAGE TO THE CARRIER AS SOON AS REASONABLY PRACTICABLE FOLLOWING THE COMPLETION OF THE FLIGHT;
 - (D) THE PASSENGER MUST PROVIDE THE CARRIER WITH (A) WRITTEN NOTICE OF ANY CLAIM FOR REIMBURSEMENT WITHIN 21 DAYS OF THE DATE ON WHICH THE BAGGAGE WAS PLACED AT THE PASSENGER'S DISPOSAL, OR IN THE CASE OR LOSS WITHIN 21 DAYS OF THE DATE ON WHICH THE BAGGAGE SHOULD HAVE BEEN PLACED AT THE PASSENGER'S DISPOSAL; (B) PARTICULARS OF THE EXPENSES FOR WHICH REIMBURSEMENT IS SOUGHT; AND (C) RECEIPTS OR OTHER DOCUMENTS ESTABLISHING TO THE REASONABLE SATISFACTION OF THE CARRIER THAT THE EXPENSES WERE INCURRED;
 - (E) THE LIABILITY OF THE CARRIER IN THE CASE OF LOST OR DELAYED BAGGAGE SHALL NOT EXCEED 1288 SPECIAL DRAWING RIGHTS (THE "BASIC CARRIER LIABILITY" WHICH IS THE APPROXIMATE CANADIAN DOLLAR EQUIVALENT OF CAD \$2,325) FOR EACH PASSENGER, UNLESS THE PASSENGER HAS DECLARED A HIGHER VALUE AND PAID THE SUPPLEMENTARY SUM IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 40 (C) OF THIS TARIFF, IN WHICH CASE THE CARRIER'S LIABILITY WILL BE LIMITED TO THE LESSER OF THE VALUE OF THE DELAYED BAGGAGE OR THE DECLARED VALUE, UP TO A MAXIMUM OF CAD \$3,000.

- (3) AFTER A 21 DAY DELAY, THE CARRIER WILL PROVIDE A SETTLEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FOLLOWING RULES:
 - (A) IF NO VALUE IS DECLARED PER RULE 40 (C), THE SETTLEMENT WILL BE IN FOR THE VALUE OF THE DELAYED BAGGAGE OR 1288 SDR (THE "BASIC CARRIER LIABILITY" WHICH IS THE APPROXIMATE CANADIAN DOLLAR EQUIVALENT OF CAD \$2,325), WHICHEVER IS THE LESSER, AND
 - (B) IF THE VALUE DECLARED PER RULE 40 (C), THE SETTLEMENT WILL BE FOR THE VALUE OF THE DELAYED BAGGAGE OR THE DECLARED SUM (PER RULE 40 (C)) UP TO A MAXIMUM OF \$3,000, WHICHEVER IS THE LESSER.
 - (C) IN CONNECTION WITH ANY SETTLEMENT UNDER THIS RULE 80(3)(C), THE PASSENGER SHALL BE REQUIRED TO FURNISH PROOF OF THE VALUE OF THE DELAYED BAGGAGE WHICH ESTABLISHES SUCH VALUE TO THE SATISFACTION OF THE CARRIER, ACTING REASONABLY.
- (4) THE CARRIER MAY REFUSE OR DECLINE ANY CLAIM RELATING TO DELAYED BAGGAGE, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, IF:
 - (A) THE CONDITIONS SET OUT IN RULE 80(F)(2) ABOVE HAVE NOT BEEN MET;
 - (B) THE PASSENGER HAS FAILED OR DECLINED TO PROVIDE PROOF OR PARTICULARS ESTABLISHING, TO THE REASONABLE SATISFACTION OF THE CARRIER, THAT THE EXPENSES CLAIMED WERE INCURRED BY THE PASSENGER AND RESULTED FROM A DELAY FOR WHICH COMPENSATION IS AVAILABLE UNDER RULE 80; OR
 - (C) THE EXPENSES FOR WHICH REIMBURSEMENT IS CLAIMED, OR ANY PORTION THEREOF, ARE NOT REASONABLE OR DID NOT RESULT FROM THE DELAY, AS DETERMINED BY THE CARRIER, ACTING REASONABLY.

Rule 85 Refunds

(A) VOLUNTARY CANCELLATIONS
IF A PASSENGER DECIDES NOT TO USE THE TICKET AND CANCELS
THE RESERVATION, THE PASSENGER MAY NOT BE ENTITLED TO A
REFUND, DEPENDING ON ANY REFUND CONDITION ATTACHED TO
THE PARTICULAR FARE.

(B) INVOLUNTARY CANCELLATIONS
REFER TO RULE 65 CARRIER CANCELLATION, CHANGE AND REFUND
TERMS FOR APPLICABLE TERMS AND CONDITIONS.

Rule 90 Denied Boarding

(A) GENERAL

IF A PASSENGER WITH A CONFIRMED RESERVATION WHO HAS CHECKED IN AND PRESENTED THEMSELVES AT THE GATE BY THE DEADLINE FOR BOARDING HAS BEEN INVOLUNTARILY DENIED A SEAT ON THEIR FLIGHT, THE CARRIER WILL PROVIDE THE PASSENGER WITH:

- (1) THE REASON THEY HAVE BEEN DENIED BOARDING. BASED ON THE INFORMATION AVAILABLE TO THE CARRIER AT THE TIME;
- (2) A REMEDY OR REMEDIES IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 65, AND
- (3) DENIED BOARDING COMPENSATION AS SET FORTH IN RULE 90 IF THE DENIED BOARDING RESULTED FROM MATTERS WITHIN THE CARRIER'S CONTROL. THE CARRIER WILL NOT DENY BOARDING TO ANY PASSENGER WHO IS ALREADY ON BOARD THE AIRCRAFT UNLESS THE DENIED BOARDING IS REQUIRED FOR REASONS OF SAFETY.
- (B) VOLUNTEERS AND BOARDING PRIORITIES IF A PASSENGER IS NOT PERMITTED TO OCCUPY A SEAT ON BOARD A FLIGHT IS BECAUSE THE NUMBER OF SEATS THAT MAY BE OCCUPIED ON THE FLIGHT IS LESS THAN THE NUMBER OF PASSENGERS WHO HAVE CHECKED IN BY THE REQUIRED TIME, HOLD A CONFIRMED RESERVATION AND VALID TRAVEL DOCUMENTATION AND ARE PRESENT AT THE BOARDING GATE AT THE REQUIRED BOARDING TIME, NO ONE MAY BE DENIED BOARDING AGAINST THEIR WILL UNTIL THE CARRIER'S PERSONNEL FIRST ASK FOR VOLUNTEERS WILLING GIVE UP THEIR SEATS WILLINGLY, IN

EXCHANGE FOR SUCH COMPENSATION AS THE CARRIER MAY CHOOSE TO OFFER. IF THERE ARE NOT ENOUGH VOLUNTEERS, OTHER PASSENGERS MAY BE DENIED BOARDING INVOLUNTARILY, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CARRIER'S BOARDING PRIORITY. IF A PASSENGER WILLINGLY GIVES UP THEIR SEAT IN EXCHANGE FOR A BENEFIT OFFERED BY THE CARRIER, THE CARRIER WILL PROVIDE THE VOLUNTEERING PASSENGER WITH A WRITTEN CONFIRMATION OF THAT BENEFIT BEFORE THE FLIGHT DEPARTS. IF AN INVOLUNTARY DENIAL OF BOARDING IS NECESSARY, THE CARRIER WILL SELECT A PASSENGER(S) FOR DENIED BOARDING, GIVING PRIORITY TO PASSENGERS IN THE FOLLOWING ORDER DETERMINING BOARDING PRIORITY, THE CARRIER WILL CONSIDER THE FOLLOWING FACTORS:

- (1) AN UNACCOMPANIED MINOR,
- (2) A PERSON WITH A DISABILITY (INCLUDING THEIR SUPPORT PERSON, SERVICE ANIMAL, IF ANY),
 (3) A PERSON TRAVELING WITH FAMILY MEMBERS,
- (4) A PERSON WHO WAS PREVIOUSLY DENIED BOARDING ON THE SAME TICKET,

AFTER HAVING APPLIED THE PRIORITIES ABOVE, THE CARRIER MAY (BUT IS NOT REQUIRED TO) SELECT A PASSENGER HAVING REGARD TO THE FARE CLASS PURCHASED AND/OR FARE PAID.

(C) COMPENSATION FOR INVOLUNTARY DENIED BOARDING IF YOU ARE DENIED BOARDING FOR REASONS WITHIN THE CARRIER'S CONTROL (BUT NOT INCLUDING A DENIED BOARDING

THAT IS REQUIRED FOR SAFETY PURPOSES) INVOLUNTARILY ON A FLIGHT, YOU ARE ENTITLED TO A PAYMENT OF "DENIED BOARDING COMPENSATION" FROM CARRIER UNLESS:

- (1) YOU HAVE NOT FULLY COMPLIED WITH THE CARRIER'S TICKETING AND CHECK-IN REQUIREMENTS, OR YOU ARE NOT ACCEPTABLE FOR TRANSPORTATION UNDER THE CARRIER'S USUAL RULES AND PRACTICES; OR
- (2) YOU ARE DENIED BOARDING BECAUSE THE FLIGHT IS CANCELLED; OR
- (3) YOU ARE DENIED BOARDING BECAUSE A SMALLER CAPACITY AIRCRAFT WAS SUBSTITUTED FOR SAFETY OR OPERATIONAL REASONS, AND THE EVENTS PROMPTING SUCH SUBSTITUTION WERE BEYOND THE CARRIER'S CONTROL AND THE CARRIER TOOK ALL REASONABLE MEASURES TO AVOID THE SUBSTITUTION OR IT WAS IMPOSSIBLE FOR THE CARRIER TO TAKE SUCH MEASURES; OR
- (4) YOU ARE OFFERED ACCOMMODATIONS IN A SECTION OF THE AIRCRAFT OTHER THAN SPECIFIED IN YOUR TICKET, AT NO EXTRA CHARGE, (A PASSENGER SEATED IN A SECTION FOR WHICH A LOWER FARE IS CHARGED MUST BE GIVEN AN APPROPRIATE REFUND); OR
- (5) CARRIER IS ABLE TO PLACE YOU ON ANOTHER FLIGHT OR FLIGHTS THAT ARE PLANNED TO REACH YOUR FINAL DESTINATION WITHIN ONE HOUR OF THE SCHEDULED ARRIVAL OF YOUR ORIGINAL FLIGHT.
- (D) AMOUNT OF DENIED BOARDING COMPENSATION (US AIRPORTS)
 PASSENGERS WITH A CONFIRMED SEAT ON PD WHO ARE DENIED
 BOARDING INVOLUNTARILY FROM AN OVERSOLD
 FLIGHT DEPARTING FROM A U.S. AIRPORT ARE ENTITLED
 TO:
 - (1) NO COMPENSATION IF THE CARRIER OFFERS ALTERNATE TRANSPORTATION THAT IS PLANNED TO ARRIVE AT THE PASSENGER'S DESTINATION OR FIRST STOPOVER NOT LATER THAN ONE HOUR AFTER THE PLANNED ARRIVAL TIME OF THE PASSENGER'S ORIGINAL FLIGHT;
 - (2) NO LESS THAN 200% OF THE FARE TO THE PASSENGER'S DESTINATION OR FIRST STOPOVER, WITH A MAXIMUM OF 675 USD/CAD, IF THE CARRIER OFFERS ALTERNATE TRANSPORTATION THAT IS PLANNED TO ARRIVE AT THE PASSENGER'S DESTINATION OR FIRST STOPOVER MORE THAN ONE HOUR BUT LESS THAN FOUR HOURS AFTER THE PLANNED ARRIVAL TIME OF THE PASSENGER'S ORIGINAL FLIGHT; AND
 - (3) NO LESS THAN 400% OF THE FARE TO THE PASSENGER'S DESTINATION OR FIRST STOPOVER, WITH A MAXIMUM OF 1,350 USD/CAD, IF THE CARRIER DOES NOT OFFER ALTERNATE TRANSPORTATION THAT IS PLANNED TO ARRIVE AT THE AIRPORT OF THE PASSENGER'S DESTINATION OR FIRST STOPOVER LESS THAN FOUR HOURS AFTER THE PLANNED ARRIVAL TIME OF THE PASSENGER'S ORIGINAL FLIGHT.

0 TO 1 HOUR ARRIVAL DELAY 1 TO 4 HOUR ARRIVAL DELAY

NO COMPENSATION AT LEAST 200% OF ONE-WAY FARE (BUT NO MORE THAN 675 USD/CAD).

OVER 4 HOURS ARRIVAL DELAY

AT LEAST 400% OF ONE-WAY FARE (BUT NO MORE THAN 1,350 USD/CAD).

FOR THE PURPOSE OF CALCULATING COMPENSATION UNDER RULE 90, THE "FARE" IS THE ONE-WAY FARE FOR THE FLIGHT INCLUDING ANY SURCHARGE AND AIR TRANSPORTATION TAX, MINUS ANY APPLICABLE DISCOUNTS. ALL FLIGHTS, INCLUDING CONNECTING FLIGHTS, TO THE PASSENGER'S DESTINATION OR FIRST 4-HOUR STOPOVER ARE USED TO COMPUTE THE COMPENSATION.

(E) AMOUNT OF DENIED BOARDING COMPENSATION (CANADIAN AIRPORT)

PASSENGERS WITH A CONFIRMED SEAT ON PD WHO ARE DENIED BOARDING INVOLUNTARILY FROM AN OVERSOLD FLIGHT DEPARTING FROM A CANADIAN AIRPORT ARE ENTITLED TO:

- (1) \$900 CAD IF THE CARRIER OFFERS ALTERNATE TRANSPORTATION THAT ARRIVES AT THE PASSENGER'S DESTINATION OR FIRST STOPOVER LESS THAN SIX HOURS AFTER THE PLANNED ARRIVAL TIME OF THE PASSENGER'S ORIGINAL FLIGHT;
- (2) \$1,800 CAD IF THE CARRIER OFFERS ALTERNATE TRANSPORTATION THAT ARRIVES AT THE AIRPORT OF THE PASSENGER'S DESTINATION OR FIRST STOPOVER MORE THAN SIX HOURS AFTER THE PLANNED ARRIVAL TIME OF THE PASSENGER'S ORIGINAL FLIGHT; AND
- (3) \$2,400 CAD IF THE CARRIER OFFERS ALTERNATE TRANSPORTATION THAT IS PLANNED TO ARRIVE AT THE AIRPORT OF THE PASSENGER'S DESTINATION OR FIRST STOPOVER MORE THAN NINE HOURS AFTER THE PLANNED ARRIVAL TIME OF THE PASSENGER'S ORIGINAL FLIGHT.
- (F) METHOD OF PAYMENT
 EXCEPT AS PROVIDED BELOW, THE CARRIER MUST GIVE EACH
 PASSENGER WHO QUALIFIES FOR DENIED BOARDING COMPENSATION
 A PAYMENT BY CHEQUE OR DRAFT FOR THE AMOUNT SPECIFIED
 ABOVE, ON THE DAY AND PLACE THE INVOLUNTARY DENIED
 BOARDING OCCURS. HOWEVER, IF THE CARRIER ARRANGES
 ALTERNATE TRANSPORTATION FOR THE PASSENGER'S CONVENIENCE
 THAT DEPARTS BEFORE THE PAYMENT CAN BE MADE, THE PAYMENT
 WILL BE SENT TO THE PASSENGER WITHIN 24 HOURS. THE
 CARRIER MAY OFFER FREE OR DISCOUNTED TRANSPORTATION
 VOUCHERS IN PLACE OF CASH OR CHEQUE PAYMENT, PROVIDED:
 - (1) THE CARRIER HAS INFORMED THE PASSENGER OF THE AMOUNT OF CASH COMPENSATION THAT WOULD BE DUE AND THAT THE PASSENGER MAY DECLINE TRAVEL VOUCHERS, AND RECEIVE CASH OR EQUIVALENT;
 - (2) THE VALUE OF SUCH VOUCHER(S) IS GREATER THAN THE VALUE OF THE CASH COMPENSATION TO WHICH THE PASSENGER WOULD OTHERWISE HAVE BEEN ENTITLED.
 - (3) THE VOUCHERS DO NOT EXPIRE;
 - (4) THE CARRIER OBTAINS THE SIGNED ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF THE PASSENGER, CONFIRMING THAT THE PASSENGER WAS PROVIDED WITH THE AFOREMENTIONED INFORMATION, }AND ACCEPTS TRAVEL VOUCHERS IN LIEU OF CASH OR EQUIVALENT COMPENSATION.

(5)

Tariff: CGR1 - CTA No. 241 DOT No. 427

Carrier: Porter Airlines (Canada) Limited - PD

Rule 95 Check-In Requirements

IN ADDITION TO ANY OTHER CHECK-IN REQUIREMENTS SET OUT IN THIS TARIFF, THE FOLLOWING CHECK-IN REQUIREMENTS MUST BE COMPLIED WITH:

A PASSENGER MUST HAVE OBTAINED HIS/HER BOARDING PASS AND CHECKED ANY BAGGAGE BY THE CHECK-IN DEADLINE BELOW AND MUST BE AVAILABLE FOR BOARDING AT THE BOARDING GATE BY THE DEADLINE SHOWN BELOW. FAILURE TO MEET THESE DEADLINES MAY RESULT IN THE LOSS OF THE PASSENGER'S ASSIGNED SEAT OR THE CANCELLATION OF THE PASSENGER'S RESERVATION.

NOTE THAT AIRPORT CONGESTION (E.G. DURING PEAK PERIODS OR IRREGULAR OPERATIONS) AND AIRPORT SECURITY AND PUBLIC HEALTH AND SAFETY CHECKS AND PROCEDURES MAY CAUSE DELAYS IN PASSENGERS PROCEEDING THROUGH CHECK-IN AND SECURITY TO THE BOARDING AREA. THE CARRIER DOES NOT GUARANTEE THAT MEETING THE ARRIVAL TIME AND CHECK-IN DEADLINES SET OUT BELOW WILL LEAVE SUFFICIENT TIME TO MEET THE BOARDING GATE DEADLINE AT ALL TIMES. THE PASSENGER SHOULD TAKE POTENTIAL DELAYS INTO ACCOUNT WHEN PLANNING ARRIVAL TIME.

DOMESTIC FLIGHTS

DOMESTIC FLIGHTS				
	ARRIVAL TIME	CHECK-IN DEADLINE	BOARDING GATE	
TORONTO CITY	40 MINUTES	30 MINUTES	30 MINUTES	
TORONTO PEARSON	120 MINUTES	45 MINUTES	40 MINUTES	
CALGARY	120 MINUTES	45 MINUTES	40 MINUTES	
EDMONTON	120 MINUTES	45 MINUTES	40 MINUTES	
MONTREAL	120 MINUTES	45 MINUTES	40 MINUTES	
VANCOUVER	120 MINUTES	45 MINUTES	40 MINUTES	
OTHER AIRPORTS	60 MINUTES	45 MINUTES	40 MINUTES	

INTERNATIONAL FLIGHTS					
-	TORONTO CITY AIRPORT TORONTO PEARSON				
	ARRIVAL TIME	CHECK-IN DEADLINE	BOARDING GATE		
TORONTO CITY	60 MINUTES	45 MINUTES	30 MINUTES		
TORONTO PEARSON	180 MINUTES	90 MINUTES	40 MINUTES		
CALGARY	180 MINUTES	90 MINUTES	40 MINUTES		
EDMONTON	180 MINUTES	90 MINUTES	40 MINUTES		
MONTREAL	180 MINUTES	90 MINUTES	40 MINUTES		
VANCOUVER	180 MINUTES	90 MINUTES	40 MINUTES		
OTHER AIRPORTS	180 MINUTES	60 MINUTES	40 MINUTES		